PERCEPTIONS OF JUVENILE CONFESSIONS AS A FUNCTION OF POLICE REPORT AND QUESTIONING QUALITY

By

Morgan Nicole Andrews

Amye R. Warren Professor of Psychology (Chair) David Ross Professor of Psychology (Committee Member)

David Ferrier Professor of Psychology (Committee Member)

PERCEPTIONS OF JUVENILE CONFESSIONS AS A FUNCTION OF POLICE REPORT AND QUESTIONING QUALITY

By

Morgan Nicole Andrews

A Thesis Submitted to the Faculty of the University of Tennessee at Chattanooga in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements of the Degree of Master of Science: Psychology

The University of Tennessee at Chattanooga Chattanooga, Tennessee

May 2019

ABSTRACT

Recent research has shown that mock jurors are sensitive to interrogation coerciveness and its relation to risk of false confessions in adults if they can see interrogation tactics used, but not if provided with a police report that omits these tactics (Kassin et al., 2017). The present study was designed to extend these findings to a juvenile confession case. The current study analyzed the effects of interrogation quality and type of evidence presented on mock jurors' perceptions of a juvenile confession. Participants (N= 602) read a case in which coerciveness (highly vs slightly), police report type (accurate vs inaccurate vs no report), and interrogation transcript presence (present vs. not present) were manipulated. Regardless of coercion level or accuracy, police report presence led to more guilty verdicts. Consistent with prior studies of adult interrogations, results indicate that reading a police report significantly diminishes mock jurors' capacity to critically analyze juvenile confessions.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| ABST | RACT | iii |
|------|--|-----|
| LIST | OF TABLES | vi |
| LIST | OF FIGURES | vii |
| CHAF | PTER | |
| I. | INTRODUCTION | 1 |
| | False Confessions and Police Tactics | 2 |
| | Juveniles and False Confessions | 6 |
| | Perceptions of Confessions | 11 |
| | Perceptions of Juvenile Confessions | 15 |
| | Rationale for Current Study | 17 |
| | The Current Study | 18 |
| II. | METHODOLOGY | 21 |
| | Participants | 21 |
| | Materials | 23 |
| | Murder Case Vignette | 23 |
| | Transcript Evidence | 25 |
| | Police Reports | |
| | Perceptions Questionnaires | |
| | Attention Checks | 27 |
| | Verdict Judgements | 27 |
| | Perceptions of the Interrogation | 28 |
| | Perceptions of the Confession | 29 |
| | Understanding of Legal Rights | |
| | Perceptions of Police Report | |
| | Affective Reactions | |
| | Perceptions of Police | |
| | Demographics Questionnaire | |
| | Procedure | |
| III. | RESULTS | |
| | Analysis Plan | |
| | Attention Checks | |
| | Perceptions Scales Reliability Analysis | |
| | Predicted Main Effects of Police Report, Transcript, & Coercion on Verdict | |
| | Effects of Independent Variables on Perceptions Scale Scores | |
| | Scale Scores as Predictors of Guilt Verdict | 45 |

| Demographic Factors as Predictors of Guilt Verdict | 47 |
|--|-----|
| Demographic Factors as Predictors of Scale Scores | |
| Qualitative Analysis | 50 |
| IV. DISCUSSION | 51 |
| Limitations | 55 |
| Implications | |
| Future Directions | 60 |
| Conclusion | |
| | |
| REFERENCES | 63 |
| | |
| APPENDIX | |
| A. IRB APPROVAL LETTER | |
| B. CASE BACKGROUND | |
| C. TRANSCRIPTS | |
| D. POLICE REPORTS | |
| E. PERCPETIONS QUESTIONNAIRE | |
| F. QUALITATIVE CODING SCHEME | |
| VITA | 100 |

LIST OF TABLES

| 1 Reliability Coefficie | ents for All Six P | Perceptions Sca | ales | 35 |
|-------------------------|--------------------|-----------------|------|--------|
| 2 Mean Scale Scores (| | - | | |

LIST OF FIGURES

| 1 Visual Representation of Study Design | 19 |
|---|----|
| 2 Percentage of Guilty Verdicts by Condition | |
| 3 Conditions Included in 2x2x2 Analyses of Variance | |
| 4 Conditions Included in 2x3 Analyses of Variance | |
| 5 | |

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

On November 19, 1991, fourteen-year old Cateresa Matthews disappeared after leaving her Dixmoor, Illinois home. After being missing for almost a month, her body was found along a path off of I-57. Forensic analysis determined that she had been sexually assaulted and suffered from a gunshot wound, resulting in her death. For over a year the case went unsolved until, on an anonymous tip, police brought in fifteen-year old Robert Lee Veal for questioning. Veal was interrogated for more than five hours in a small room in the police station without the presence of a lawyer or his parents. At the conclusion of the questioning, Veal signed a handwritten statement reading that he, along with four others teenage boys, was responsible for the rape and murder of Matthews. Within the next three days, three of the four remaining boys also confessed to the crime. Even though the four confessions contradicted one another and analysis of DNA taken from the victim's body excluded all five defendants as sources, all five boys were convicted at trial. In 2011, the convictions were overturned when DNA evidence was found to match that of violent serial offender Willie Randolph, and the Dixmoor Five were exonerated after spending fourteen years of their lives in prison for a crime they did not commit (InnocenceProject, 2017).

False Confessions & Police Tactics

False confessions occur when a suspect admits guilt to the commission of a criminal act in situations in which they are innocent (Hritz, Blau, & Tomezsko, 2010). False confessions account for around twenty-five percent of wrongful convictions (InnocenceProject, 2007). Types of false confessions include voluntary, coerced compliant, and coerced-internalized (Kassin & Wrightsman, 1985; Paton et al., 2018). Voluntary false confessions occur when an individual willingly admits to a crime they know they did not commit. Voluntary confessions occur independent of any coercion. Reasons for voluntary confessions may include attempts to protect the true perpetrator as well as desire for public attention or notoriety (Gudjonsson & Pearse, 2011). Coerced-compliant confessions involve a public admission of guilt; however, the suspect maintains an internal belief of innocence (Paton et al., 2018). The final type of false confession, coerced-internalized confessions, occur when the suspect is convinced of their guilt and begin to internalize the belief that they are responsible for the crime (Paton et al., 2018).

False confessions can occur as a result of a variety of circumstances including protecting someone else, instrumental gain, or notoriety (Malloy et al., 2014). However, the most frequently cited causes are coercive police interrogation tactics (Kassin & Mcnall, 1991; Kelly, Miller, Redlich, & Kleinman, 2013). Police interrogators are often taught to use coercive tactics in their interrogations of suspects in order to maximize the likelihood of eliciting a confession (Drizin, Colgan, & Lassiter, 2004). The most widely used training method is the Reid technique of (Reid, 1977). This technique is designed to increase suspect anxiety in response to denials and to reduce this anxiety only in response to a confession (Perillo & Kassin, 2011). In other words, interrogators are taught to continuously increase pressure as the suspect continues to deny accusations and resist police influence until a confession is ultimately given, at which point pressure is relieved.

The two main interrogation tactics endorsed by the Reid technique are minimization and maximization. Maximization involves an over-exaggeration of the strength of evidence and severity of the charges on the part of the interrogator (Kassin & McNall, 1991). For example, the interrogator may tell the defendant that all the evidence points to their guilt and they might as well confess. In addition, the interrogator may threaten that if the suspect does not confess, they will receive a more severe punishment. This tactic is designed so that the interrogator may assert control and authority over the suspect in order to gain compliance, and eventually a confession (Redlich, Kelly, & Miller, 2014). On the other hand, in minimization, interrogators play down the seriousness of the crime and may even provide the suspect with potential justifications for the crime. The goal of this tactic is to establish a sense of understanding between suspect and interrogator and a superficial sense of friendship (Kassin & Mcnall, 1991; Redlich, 2010). For example, an interrogator may say "I want you to know I understand why you did it, I think most people would've done the same thing in your situation". The use of minimization tactics creates the apperception of trust between the suspect and interrogator, making the suspect more susceptible to complying with requests to confess (Paton et al., 2018). Both maximization and minimization tactics have been proven psychologically manipulative and have been linked to increased likelihood of false confessions (Kassin & Mcnall, 1991).

In addition to these widely known techniques, researchers have identified additional techniques often used by interrogators to elicit a confession (Paton et al., 2018; Redlich et al., 2014). For example, interrogators will use repetitive questioning to increase uncertainty in the suspect by causing the suspect to question their answers, making them more susceptible to

suggestibility (Paton et al., 2018). Redlich and colleagues (2014) described techniques including rapport building, context manipulation, emotion provocation, as well as a specific type of maximization, presentation of false evidence. In rapport building interrogators attempt to establish a superficial bond with the suspect by creating common ground, offering kindness and respect, and meeting basic needs such as food and water. Context manipulation involves the alteration of the physical space where the interrogation is taking place (such as the interrogation room) in order to maximize the chance for a successful outcome. For example, many interrogators will arrange the interrogation room so that they are in a power position and therefore better able to assert their authority (Redlich et al., 2014). This may include sitting close to the suspect and standing while the suspect is sitting. Many interrogators will also physically isolate suspects within a closed off room in the police department in an attempt to make the suspect feel detached from the outside world. In emotion provocation, interrogators attempt to either elicit or subdue negative emotions such as anger, sadness, and fear depending on the personality of the suspect. Lastly, presentation of false evidence occurs when the interrogator provides the suspect with incriminating evidence that the police in fact do not have to increase their likelihood of confessing. In their survey of retired and active police interrogators, Redlich and colleagues (2014) found that majority of police surveyed believed that confrontation (maximization) techniques were the most successful in obtaining a confession, therefore making these tactics the most readily used in actual interrogations.

American interrogations also tend to be guilt presumptive and accusatorial. Police are taught to assume the suspect they are questioning is guilty and conduct their interrogation as such. This belief can lead to extreme bias causing many interrogators to question in a manner designed to confirm already established beliefs about the suspect's guilt and elicit incriminating statements and confessions instead of using interrogations as means to gather information about the crime (Kassin et al., 2010; Malloy et al., 2014). This fact can prove problematic as it has been directly linked to the suggestion of narratives on the part of the interrogator (Kassin et al., 2007). In other words, interrogators construct a narrative of the crime which they believe to be true and suggest pieces of this narrative to the suspect throughout the questioning. The suspect is merely asked to verify the suggested narrative, leading to contamination of the entire interrogation. Research has even shown that when confessions are inconsistent with facts of the crime, interrogators may remold a postadmission narrative to fit the statement given by the suspect (Appleby, Hasel, & Kassin, 2011).

Research has also indicated that guilt presumption can lead interrogators to conduct more high pressure, tactic filled interrogations (Kassin, Goldstein, & Savitsky, 2003). In fact, interrogators more readily use these coercive tactics when a suspect is innocent due to the denials innocent suspects present (Kassin et al., 2010). In addition, many police interrogators exhibit overconfidence in their ability to detect guilt in suspects, leading to an overall belief that only guilty suspects are interrogated (Gudjonsson & Pearse, 2011). This false belief has been linked to incorrect labeling of innocent suspects as guilty, also known as the misclassification error (Leo & Drizin, 2010). Interrogators often analyze suspects' behavior during questioning in order to confirm this belief of guilt. Behaviors such as fidgeting, picking at one's skin or clothes, and averting gaze are all labeled as guilty behaviors by interrogators; however, all of these behaviors have also been linked to innocent suspects (Keatley, Marono, & Clarke, 2018). Once a suspect is mischaracterized as guilty, they are often subjected to an adversarial, accusatory interrogation in which coercive tactics are frequently implemented (Keatley et al., 2018). If the interrogation results in a false admission of guilt, a postadmission narrative is formed in which the police

supply the innocent suspect with facts of the crime so that the confession given matches the current evidence (Leo & Davis, 2010).

Many of the tactics used by police were initially designed to be used in interrogations of adult suspects; however, research shows that they are readily used with juvenile suspects as well (Cleary & Warner, 2016; Kostelnik & Reppucci, 2009). A recent survey of experienced police interrogators (Cleary & Warner, 2016) revealed that officers use an array of manipulation techniques similarly with both adult and juvenile suspects, including presentation of evidence, rapport building, and minimizing the seriousness of the offense (minimization). Results of the survey also revealed that Reid trained officers are significantly more likely than non-Reid trained officers to use manipulative techniques with juvenile suspects. Similar research has shown that Reid trained officers are more likely to endorse presenting false evidence and minimization tactics with adolescents and children (Kostelnik & Reppucci, 2009). Reid trained officers are also less likely to agree that adolescents are more suggestible than adult suspects than non-Reid trained officers (Kostelnik & Reppucci, 2009) Research has shown that interrogative techniques are problematic with adult suspects and can lead to false confessions, however these issues are exacerbated when these techniques are used with juvenile suspects.

Juveniles and False Confessions

Certain populations have been found to be more susceptible to the coercive interrogation tactics used by police (e.g., individuals with psychological/ mental disorders, intellectual impairments, and compliant personalities). However, one of the most vulnerable populations is juveniles (Bonnie & Scott, 2013; Candel, Merckelbach, Loyen, & Reyskens, 2005; Malloy et al., 2014). In fact, over the past 25 years, 38% of exonerations involving juveniles were due to false

confessions (Innocence Project, 2015). Additionally, in a 2004 review of rape and murder cases, Drizin and Leo found that juveniles were overrepresented in the false confession population, with 63% of false confession cases involving suspects under the age of 25 and 32% of that group falling under the age of 18.

Juveniles may be more likely to falsely confess to a crime than adults for many neurological, cognitive, social, and emotional reasons. Neurologically, juveniles are different from adults. They lack developed pathways within the frontal lobe causing heightened reward sensitivity and low levels of self-regulation (Cleary, 2017). Heightened reward sensitivity can cause juveniles to be more susceptible to rewards offered by police in return for confessions such as getting to go home or ending the interrogation. Further, juveniles are more likely to falsely confess in order to escape the questioning and obtain the reward of "getting home" than adults (Cleary, 2017). Low self-regulation can cause juveniles to have low impulse control, low response inhibition, and difficulty regulating emotions, all of which have been linked to increased risk of false confessions (Cleary, 2017).

Brain imaging evidence also indicates that compared to adults, juveniles lack sufficient brain maturation in decision making regions leading them to make poor, impulsive decisions related to legal situations such as interrogations (Bonnie & Scott, 2013). Juveniles also tend to lack an established sense of future orientation meaning they are unable to fully realize future consequences of present behavior such as the long terms consequences of confessing to a criminal act; therefore many may act out of short term desires including escaping the interrogation (Cleary, 2017). This lack of future orientation can also cause juveniles to perceive encounters with police to be lengthier than they actually are. Juveniles may perceive a relatively short interrogation as a lengthy one which could contribute to increased risk of false confessions

7

(Cleary, 2017). Overall, to avoid falsely confessing in an interrogative situation, a suspect must have the ability to resist police influence (Davis & Leo, 2012). Due to the developmental disadvantages listed above, many juveniles fundamentally lack this ability and therefore are at increased risk of falsely confessing.

Juveniles are also more susceptible to the influence of others. Socially, juveniles may be more prone to false confessions primarily because they are typically socialized to respect authority figures such as police officers and have been found to be more compliant with authority figures (Cleary, 2017; Malloy et al., 2014). Many interrogations are structured to maximize this power imbalance between suspect and interrogator. For instance, when questioning juveniles, police may stand over suspects or assert their power by using condescending language (Cleary & Warner, 2016). Juveniles are also more susceptible to social influence, especially from peers. Therefore, juveniles are more likely to confess to a crime they did not commit in order to protect a peer or when told that a peer has given police incriminating evidence against them (Malloy et al., 2014). In other words, because youth place heavier emphasis on social connections with peers, juveniles are more likely than adults to take the blame for a crime their peer committed in order to maintain their social network.

Youth also tend to lack general legal knowledge (knowledge of rights, legal consequences, etc.) leading to a greater likelihood of making poor legal decisions such as falsely confessing (Malloy et al., 2014). One area of legal knowledge in which juveniles have been found to be especially deficient is knowledge and comprehension of Miranda rights (Cleary, 2014; Goldstein, Condie, Kalbeitzer, Osman, & Geier, 2003; Zelle, Romaine, & Goldstein, 2015). Juveniles tend to misunderstand their basic rights due to lack of knowledge and comprehension of legal language used in the rights (Goldstein et al., 2003). More specifically, Goldstein (2003) found that the most misunderstood legal terms among juveniles were "interrogation" and "consult". These two terms are highly relevant in the suspect questioning process and therefore their misunderstanding may imply an overall misunderstanding of the questioning process. Research has also indicated that youth misunderstand their right to counsel, meaning that many youths proceed with questioning without legal counsel present, which has been directly linked to increased risk of false confessions (Goldstein et al., 2003). Youth also tend to lack an understanding of their right to silence and therefore believe that they cannot refuse to submit to police questioning and interrogations (Zelle et al., 2015).

Studies have shown that youth under the age of 15 are significantly more likely to waive their Miranda rights than adult suspects (Grisso et al., 2003; Kassin et al., 2010). This occurs, at least in part, because youth believe they should not disobey authority figures and are therefore more likely to allow police to convince them that they should waive their rights (Kassin et al., 2010). Police often attempt to obtain waivers of rights by establishing rapport with the suspect as well as increasing the perceived benefits of waiving their rights relative to the costs (Kassin & Norwick, 2004). Also, juveniles are more likely to waive their rights on the basis of avoidance of short-term negative consequences (e.g. having to wait for an attorney would delay the interrogation ending) (Grisso, 1981). Moreover, research has shown that innocent suspects waive their rights more often than guilty suspects because they believe that their innocence will become apparent to others during the interrogative process (Kassin & Norwick, 2004). For example, in a mock crime study, Kassin and Norwick (2004) found that 81% of accused but innocent suspects waived their rights, compared to just 36% of guilty suspects. This can prove detrimental in the interrogation process because as previously stated being innocent and denying leads police to

9

increase pressure and confrontation, therefore significantly increasing the risk of a false confession.

A juvenile's decision to waive their legal rights may also be influenced by their understanding of whether or not they are in police custody (Cleary, 2014). Police custody is generally defined as any circumstance in which an individual is deprived of their ability to freely leave police presence (*J.B.D. v. North Carolina*, 2010). This particular issue arises primarily in juvenile interrogations due to the fact that questioning of a juvenile suspect can occur in a variety of environmental contexts outside of the typical interrogation room. More specifically, juveniles may be questioned by police in their homes or even at their schools, thus leading to confusion for the suspect (Cleary, 2014).

This issue has also led to confusion on the part of interrogators regarding whether or not they are required to issue Miranda warnings in the first place. Legally, statement of Miranda rights is only required to be given in cases in which the suspect is in police custody (*J.B.D. v. North Carolina*, 2010). Questioning juveniles outside of the police station creates a gray area in which police may or may not issue Miranda warnings as they may not perceive the juvenile as in custody. As previously stated, juveniles tend to lack understanding of Miranda warnings when they are issued thus leading to increased risk of false confessions, so by failing to issue the warnings all together, police may be intensifying this problem. Children and adolescents also may not realize that they are not in custody and have the right to exit the questioning. This issue reached the Supreme Court of the United States in *J.B.D. v. North Carolina* (2010). In this case, the court determined that juveniles are fundamentally different from adults and therefore age of the suspect should be considered when determining whether the suspect is in police custody and whether or not to issue Miranda warnings (Cleary, 2014; *J.B.D. v. North Carolina*, 2010).

Despite these advances, to date, no uniform standard exists and regulations regarding giving juvenile suspects their Miranda warnings vary drastically across states (Rogers et al., 2012).

Perceptions of Confessions

Despite the coercive nature of interrogations and the increased probability of false confessions in juvenile suspects, confessions are readily admitted into evidence at trials. Only confessions that are elicited through physical harm or instances in which detained suspects are not given their Miranda rights are deemed inadmissible in court (Kassin & McNall, 1991). However, psychologically coercive tactics used by police in interrogation are not routinely seen as manipulative by the court and therefore confessions elicited through these means are readily admitted and presented. This means that some confessions admitted into evidence are in fact false, which can prove detrimental to a defendant's case given the potent nature of confession evidence.

Confessions tend to be the most damaging evidence admitted in any trial (Kassin & Neumann, 1997; Kassin & Wrightsman, 1981). In fact, when asked to rank evidence in order of importance related to verdict decisions, mock jurors cited confessions more frequently than any other type of evidence including eyewitness testimony and were significantly more likely to render guilty decisions when a confession was present (Kassin & Neumann, 1997). This phenomenon occurs primarily due to the fact that people are predisposed to believe confessions (Malloy, 2014); they tend to have a hard time believing that a person would act in spite of their best interest by confessing to a crime they did not commit. Even when presented with contradictory evidence or when told the confession was coerced and later retracted, mock jurors do not adequately discount confessions (Kassin, 2012).

11

When confessions are presented in trial, several factors can affect how they are perceived by jurors. Research reveals that tactics used by police during interrogations can drastically influence jurors' perceptions of confessions. For instance, jurors tend to view adult confessions elicited through maximization techniques as less voluntary than those elicited through the use of minimization techniques as indicated by higher rates of guilty verdicts in minimization cases compared to maximization cases (Kassin & Mcnall, 1991). Mock jurors tend to perceive maximization tactics (such as confrontation and threats of harsh punishment) as coercive and more likely to lead to an involuntary confession (Blandón-Gitlin, Sperry, & Leo, 2011). However, mock jurors typically do not see minimization techniques as coercive or likely to elicit false confessions (Blandón-Gitlin et al., 2011). Despite the fact that jurors perceive some interrogation tactics as coercive, many still assert that an innocent person should be able to resist the temptation to comply, perpetuating the belief that an innocent person will not confess to a crime they did not commit (Leo & Liu, 2009). Mock jurors tend to generally agree that confessions are strong indicators of a suspect's guilt and believe that only guilty people confess (Henkel, Coffman, & Dailey, 2008).

Overall, mock jurors tend to fail to recognize psychological manipulation in police interrogations and therefore are unable to adjust verdicts to account for potentially coercive tactics used when questioning suspects and ultimately disregard false confessions (Woestehoff & Meissner, 2016). Many psychologists have accredited this finding to the fundamental attribution error, in which people emphasize dispositional, or internal, factors instead of situational factors when explaining other's behaviors (Bernhard & Miller, 2018; Ross, Amabile, & Steinmetz, 1977). Further, because many individuals believe that they would never falsely confess to a crime they did not commit, they use this same belief to evaluate others, failing to take into account external factors that could have caused a false confession (Henkel et al., 2008; Kassin et al., 2010). Bernhard and Miller (2018) found that mock jurors found a defendant guiltier, on average, when he recanted his confession than when an eyewitness withdrew his statement. This finding indicates that defendants who claim to have falsely confessed may be judged more harshly by the jury based on the fundamental attribution error. It is important to note that these findings relate to confessions given by adult suspects.

Some researchers have suggested that due to recent public exposure of high-profile false confession cases (e.g., the case of Brendan Dassey), that jurors today may be more aware of false confessions and the risk factors that may lead to them (Woestehoff & Meissner, 2016). In order to assess this claim Mindthoff and colleagues (2018) reassessed perceptions of confessions and interrogations in a large sample of undergraduates from 11 universities and MTurk respondents. Over half of respondents (58.1%) agreed that suspects who confess are most likely guilty and, on average respondents estimated that only 30% of innocent suspects have actually falsely confessed (Mindthoff et al., 2018). However, over half of the respondents reported believing that police are likely to use manipulative interrogation tactics in order to elicit a confession. Respondents also rated many of the tactics likely to increase risk of false confession and as coercive. Taken together, these results suggest that the public's knowledge about false confessions and risk factors associated with them is increasing, however it seems that there is still general acceptance of the idea that only guilty people are likely to confess.

More recently, Kassin and colleagues (2017) examined how incident reports (police report of the questioning of a suspect) would affect mock jurors' perceptions of the interrogation and subsequently the suspect's guilt. In the first phase of their research, experienced police interviewers investigated a mock theft and interviewed two innocent suspects (each participant was led to believe that one suspect was more suspicious than the other). After completing the questioning, police participants were required to file incident reports for each of the interrogations; these reports were then compared with audio recordings from the actual interrogations. Results showed that police participants frequently left out details of the interrogations and grossly underestimated their use of coercive tactics when questioning the suspects. For example, on average about 57% of interrogations included confrontation tactics and 60% included maximization tactics but these techniques were only reported in 22% and 16% of police reports, respectively. In other words, results indicate that police reported on average report roughly about one-fifth of the coercive tactics they use during questioning of suspects. Therefore, several coercive tactics were used during the interrogations but did not appear in the corresponding police reports.

Past research (Lamb, Orbach, Sternberg, Hershkowitz, & Horowitz, 2000; Warren & Woodall, 1999) has found similar results by showing that interviewers frequently commit errors of omission during hearsay testimony (reporting only about one-quarter of the details reported by the child) and often misrepresenting the structure of the interview; this holds true even when the interviewer takes verbatim noted during the interview. For example, the questions interviewers do include in their reports tend to be more open-ended and less leading than they actually were, and they make the child's report seem more spontaneous and less prompted than it was in reality. Similar to Lamb and colleague's (2000) findings, Kassin et al. (2017), found that police tend to only report approximately 20% of coercive tactics used during questioning of suspects in their final reports of the questioning. Therefore, interviewer hearsay testimony appears to be an "embellished reconstruction" of the interview conducted instead of an accurate depiction of the child's actual statements (Warren, Nunez, Keeney, Buck, & Smith, 2002).

In the second phase of their study, Kassin and colleagues (2017) provided lay participants with an overview of the mock theft case and either a police incident report, a verbatim transcript of the interrogation, or an audio recording of the interrogation. Mock jurors presented with only police testimony and reports in adult interrogation cases tend to misjudge the suspect as guilty more often than mock jurors presented with transcript evidence (Kassin et al., 2017). Mock jurors who read transcripts of interrogations versus the police report also tended to view the interrogator as exerting more pressure and trying harder to obtain a confession. Therefore, research indicates that police interrogation reports can drastically affect jurors' perceptions of an innocent suspect as they may fail to provide complete and/or accurate accounts of the questioning that took place.

In addition to underreporting of their use of coercive tactics, police will often frame their questioning of suspects as "interviews" as to avoid any potential negative connotations associated with the word interrogation (Shuy, 2000). By using the word interview instead of interrogation, police can downplay the seriousness and harshness of the questioning of suspects, making the questioning process seem more innocuous than it was in reality. This could also lead jurors to misjudge an innocent suspect as guilty by causing a fundamental mischaracterization of the interrogation process.

Perceptions of Juvenile Confessions

It is unknown if, as a general practice, mock jurors take the suspect's age into account when evaluating confession evidence. Overall, research seems to indicate that age of the suspect is marginally related to guilt judgements (Redlich, Quas, & Ghetti, 2008). Juvenile defendants are sometimes perceived to be more susceptible to interrogation tactics and are therefore more likely to be believed to have falsely confessed (Redlich et al., 2008). Research has also indicated that younger juveniles are less likely to be seen as guilty compared to older juveniles (Villamarin, 2013).

The gender of the defendant has also shown to be influential in that female suspects are perceived to be more susceptible to interrogation tactics than males and therefore more likely to falsely confess (Redlich et al., 2008). However, this effect appears to be dependent on the gender of the mock juror. For example, male jurors tend to believe that female suspects are more susceptible to interrogation tactics than female jurors. Female jurors also tend to exhibit higher levels of sympathy and view interrogations as less fair and more coercive; therefore, they are more likely than male jurors to believe defendants' claims of false confessions (Redlich et al., 2008). Sympathy levels of mock jurors have also been shown to affect how they perceive suspects. For instance, mock jurors with higher sympathy levels have been shown to be less likely to vote a juvenile suspect as guilty and more likely to view children and adolescents as credible witnesses (Redlich et al., 2008).

A recent analysis of perceptions of juvenile interrogations and confessions revealed that many mock jurors do not perceive youth as a serious risk factor for false confessions (Mindthoff et al., 2018). Over 30% of respondents indicated that it was appropriate for police interrogators to employ interrogation tactics designed to be used with adult suspects with juvenile suspects under the age of 17. Additionally, around 26% of respondents stated that it was acceptable to question a juvenile under the age of 17 without the presence of a parent or guardian. Respondents also on average indicated that juvenile confessions should be admissible in court despite the suspects denied request to have a parent present during the questioning. Further, youth was rated as one of the lowest dispositional risk factors of false confessions by respondents, on average. These findings suggest that mock jurors fail to acknowledge age as a potential risk factor of false confessions.

Rationale for Current Study

False confessions pose a real threat to our justice system, accounting for a large portion of wrongful convictions in the United States. Research has repeatedly shown that juveniles are especially vulnerable to offering false confessions in interrogative situations; however, it appears that the public does not see youth as a potential risk factor for false confessions. Research is needed in order to examine processes underlying how juvenile confessions are perceived and analyzed by the public as to potentially avoid wrongful convictions of innocent juveniles.

Recent research has independently examined how questioning quality (e.g., coerciveness of the interrogation) as well as the type of evidence presented (e.g., police report or transcript excerpts of the questioning) on mock jurors' perceptions of adult confessions. Results have shown that increased coerciveness leads mock jurors to question the confession offered making them more likely to render a verdict of not guilty (Blandón-Gitlin et al., 2011). In addition, police reports, due to high frequency of errors of omission regarding coercive tactics used during questioning of the suspect, have been shown to bias mock jurors against the suspect leading to more guilty verdicts when transcript evidence is not provided (Kassin et al., 2017).

These two factors that have been shown to influence mock juror's perceptions of confessions have yet to be assessed together in the same study or using a juvenile interrogation and confession. It is important to analyze these factors with a juvenile case because of the increased risk juveniles face in the interrogative process. Gaining a better perspective of how

juvenile confessions are assessed and what factors influence these assessments will help to inform how real jurors may behave in real life cases of juvenile confessions.

Current Study

Interview quality and police reports have both been shown to independently affect juror perceptions of adult suspect confessions; however, no study has yet assessed the two variables together using a juvenile suspect confession. Therefore, the current study was designed to assess potential effects of police report evidence and questioning quality on mock jurors' perceptions of juvenile interrogations and confessions. The current study also aimed to evaluate the effects of type of evidence presented on perceptions of the confession given. To achieve these aims, a 2 (questioning coerciveness: highly vs. slightly coercive) x 2 (transcript presence: transcript evidence provided vs. no transcript evidence provided) x 3 (police report condition: no report evidence provided vs. accurate report vs. inaccurate report). The current design is not fully crossed because no data were collected in cells in which participants received neither police report or transcript evidence. The reasoning for this decision includes that such data would not be ecologically valid; in a real trial, jurors would be presented with some evidence pertaining to the confession on which they could base their verdict decision. In addition, without being provided either transcript or police report evidence, participants would not have any information to use in order to answer questions asked in the perceptions questionnaire. Including participants in these conditions would have also raised ethical concerns as these participants would have been compensated the same amount as participants required to read significantly more case materials and thus spend longer participating in the study

Police Report

| | | Yes | | No |
|------------|----------|------------|----------|----|
| Transcript | | Inaccurate | Accurate | |
| Yes | Highly | | | |
| | Slightly | | | |
| No | Highly | | | Х |
| | Slightly | | | X |

Figure 1 Visual Representation of Study Design.

I predicted main effects of police report presence, questioning quality, and interrogation transcript presence. Specific hypotheses were as follows:

1a) Based on Kassin et al. (2017), I hypothesized that participants who read a police report of the interrogation and confession would be more likely to find the suspect guilty compared to participants who did not read a police report.1b) I also predicted that inaccurate police reports would result in more guilty verdicts as these reports omitted details of interrogation techniques used during questioning.

2) Participants who read excerpts of the actual interrogation transcript were expected to render more not guilty verdicts compared to participants who did not read interrogation transcript excerpts.

3) I predicted a main effect of questioning coerciveness so that participants who read the highly coercive interrogation transcript excerpts or police reports would be more likely to vote the suspect as being not guilty compared to those who read the slightly coercive transcripts or reports.

I also hypothesized the following interactions between the independent variables:

4) I expected an interaction between police report and transcript so that participants who read actual interrogation transcripts would be less likely to find the suspect guilty even when police report evidence was present (i.e., transcript only or transcript with police report conditions would result in fewer guilty verdicts than report only conditions).

5) Lastly, I hypothesized that there would be an interaction between coerciveness of the questioning and police report so that the effect of police report presence and accuracy of the police report would depend on the coerciveness of the questioning. I expected that an inaccurate police report would have a stronger impact on verdict decisions when the questioning was highly coercive because it would diminish participants' ability to determine how coercive the questioning actually was.

This study aimed to add to the current body of research as well as provide practical implications for the courtroom by showing how interview quality and accuracy of police testimony and reports can interact to influence juror perceptions of juvenile confessions.

CHAPTER II

METHODOLOGY

Participants

Participants were recruited from two sources, Amazon Mechnical Turk (MTurk) and the SONA research management system at the University of Tennessee at Chattanooga, a midsized regional university in the southeastern area of the United States. A student sample was used to supplement the MTurk sample due primarily to financial constraints, given that power analysis required a large number of participants. TurkPrime was used in conjunction with MTurk in order to limit the MTurk sample to English speaking, U.S. citizens, who were eighteen years of age or older. These specific inclusion criteria were used in attempt to gain a sample that would be representative of potential jurors in the U.S. The student sample was open to all currently enrolled undergraduate and graduate students eighteen years of age or older.

Prior to participation, informed consent was obtained from each participant to ensure voluntary participation. The informed consent form allowed participants to gain a general understanding of the study's purpose and participation requirements as well as how they would be compensated and potential risks and benefits, so that individuals could make an informed decision as to whether or not to participate.

Amazon MTurk workers were compensated \$0.25 for participation with a \$0.75 bonus if they passed the attention check questions. This compensation amount was determined by analyzing the average cost of HITs (Human Intelligence Tasks) of similar length (time required to complete the study) and participation requirements. Student participants were compensated with extra credit in their choice of participating psychology courses. The total sample collected consisted of 639 participants, 415 Amazon MTurk workers and 224 student participants.

Thirty-five participants were excluded from the sample due to incompletion and/ or attention check failures (incorrectly answering how old the suspect in the case was (N=7) how the victim was killed (N=5) and how the suspect knew the victim (N=4)), non-sensical open-ended answers (such as answering "good" or "yes" to the question "*Why did you find the suspect guilty/ not guilty?*" (N=9), or random clicking in the perceptions questionnaires (N=1) / incompletion (N=3), as evidenced by answering all ones, all sevens, etc. on 7-point Likert scales, across perceptions questionnaires. An additional six student participants were excluded based on prior knowledge of the false confession case used in the current study. More specifically, students who indicated having previously taken a course in Psychology and Law (a course in which the current case is discussed in depth) were excluded from further analyses as having detailed prior knowledge of the case could have significantly skewed participants responses and reactions to the current study. The final sample therefore consisted of 602 participants (206 student volunteers and 396 Amazon MTurk workers).

After exclusion, student participants ranged in age from 20 to 45 with a mean age of 26.80. Student participants included 181 females (87.9%) and 23 males (11.2%). Of the student participants, 81.2% identified as White/ Caucasian, 8.7% as African American, 3.4% as Asian, 3.9% as Multi-racial, 0.5% as American Indian/ Native American, and 1.9% did not identify with any of the previously listed ethnicities. The final MTurk sample consisted of 270 females (68.2%) and 126 males (31.8%) with a mean age of 43.81 (range 18 to 81). Of the MTurk participants, 82.6% identified as White/ Caucasian, 10.6% as African American, 2.5% as Asian,

1.3% as Multi-racial, 0.8% as American Indian/ Native American, 0.3% as Native Hawaiian/ Pacific Islander, and 1.5% did not identify with any of the previously listed ethnicities.

Combined, participants ranged in age from 18 to 81, with a mean age of 35.87. The final sample included 451 females (75.0%) and 151 males (25.0%). 82.1% of participants identified as White/ Caucasian, 10.0% as African American, 2.8% as Asian, 2.2% as Multi-racial, 0.7% as American Indian/ Native American, 0.2% as Native Hawaiian/ Pacific Islander, and 1.6% did not identify with any of the previously listed ethnicities. Two participants did not report a racial identity while 201 participants did not report age. These participants were not excluded from final analyses as their failure to report these demographic characteristics did not correspond with poor quality data.

Materials

Materials consisted of a murder case vignette (adapted from *People v. Deskovic, 1994*), a police report of the questioning of the suspect (if provided in condition), questioning excerpts (if provided in condition), a battery of perceptions questionnaires, and a demographics questionnaire (see Appendices).

Murder Case Vignette

A case vignette was used to provide participants with background information about the current case, evidence, and suspect. The vignette was based on the actual juvenile false confession case *People v. Deskovic*. In *People v. Deskovic*, 16-year-old Jeffrey Deskovic was indicted and charged with the murder of a 15-year-old classmate after falsely confessing to police during an interrogation in 1990.

The victim in this case was determined to have been raped, beaten, and strangled after being found in a park near her home in Peeksill, New York. Deskovic, a socially-isolated classmate of the victim, was made the primary suspect in the case following overly distraught behavior at the victim's funeral and subsequent obsession with solving the case, often offering potential evidence to the police. Critically, biological evidence discovered at the crime scene did not match Deskovic's DNA, however the results were presented as inconclusive and he was still pursued as the primary suspect. In January 1990, during his eighth encounter with investigators, and after six hours of questioning which included three polygraph sessions, Deskovic confessed to the murder. Deskovic later recanted his confession; however he was found guilty of firstdegree rape and second-degree murder and subsequently convicted to life in prison. In 2006, the Innocence Project took on Deskovic's case, retesting DNA evidence found at the crime scene and determined the identity of the true perpetrator, ultimately exonerating Deskovic after he spent 16 years in prison (InnocenceProject, 2019).

The vignette used in the current study was based on the Deskovic case. The vignette described the murder of 15-year-old Jane Smith, whose cause of death was described as strangulation with apparent evidence of sexual assault. No biological evidence (i.e., DNA) was obtained from the crime scene, however, a piece of lined paper was found under the victim's body. The vignette goes on to describe one of Jane's classmates whom she frequently tutored in math, 16-year-old Corey Brown. Brown is described as socially isolated and overly emotional about Jane's death (i.e., being excessively distraught at her funeral) and fixated on Jane's case (often attempting to aid police with their investigation). Brown is further described as the primary suspect in the case, leading to the interrogation conducted by police (see Appendix B).

Transcript Evidence

Two sets of questioning excerpts were manipulated for questioning coerciveness (i.e., highly vs. slightly coercive) as well as the framing of the questioning by the detective (i.e., accurate vs. inaccurate framing). The highly coercive transcripts included multiple instances of questioning techniques associated with false confessions such as minimization and maximization (seven instances each of minimization and maximization techniques). Slightly coercive transcripts included few instances of coercive interrogation techniques (four instances each of minimization techniques).

The number of coercive techniques used in each scenario are based on findings of Kassin and colleagues (2017) analysis of the frequency of tactics used during mock police interrogations. However, frequencies were altered due to the fact that the original frequencies were found in a theft case in which the interrogations lasted half an hour on average and the current study used a murder case vignette with the highly coercive interrogation lasting eight hours and the slightly coercive interrogation lasting two hours. Kassin and colleagues (2017) found that, on average, in the thirty-minute interrogations, police used two instances of maximization and two instances of minimization, therefore, for the purposes of this study, this number was increased to four instances of each tactic for the slightly coercive conditions and seven instances of each tactic for the highly coercive conditions.

Maximization tactics used include presentation of false evidence (e.g., "We have physical evidence linking you to the crime, Corey"), threats of harsh punishment (e.g., "Now if you continue to make things difficult for us, your punishment will be much worse, I can guarantee that."), and confrontation (e.g., "... we think you know a lot more than you're telling us. So why don't you tell us what you know Corey?"). Minimization tactics used include promises of

leniency (e.g., "You won't be in any trouble as long as you tell the truth."), incentivizing a confession (e.g., "Please tell me exactly what happened and we can be done here, you can go home."), and downplaying the severity of the crime (e.g., "We don't think you did this on purpose Corey... We think you just got carried away and made a mistake..."). See Appendix C for the two versions of the transcripts.

Police Reports

Police reports were manipulated for accuracy (inaccurate vs. accurate) and for coerciveness (highly vs. slightly) for a total of four reports (i.e., inaccurate, highly coercive report; inaccurate, slightly coercive report; accurate, highly coercive report; accurate, slightly coercive report). Reports were manipulated for coerciveness so that they would appropriately match the coercion level of transcript evidence provided.

Inaccurate reports were designed to not be reflective of the actual questioning; they downplayed the coercive techniques used in the questioning by containing many errors of omission and framed the questioning as an interview. Consistent with Kassin and colleagues (2017) findings, inaccurate reports reported roughly one-fifth of the coercive tactics used during questioning of the suspect (i.e., one of the eight tactics was reported for the slightly coercive questioning while three of the fourteen tactics were reported for the highly coercive questioning). Accurate reports were designed to be reflective of the actual questioning in that they discussed the questioning techniques used and framed the questioning as an interrogation (rather than interview). Although the accurate reports discussed the questioning, it is important to note that the reports were not verbatim accounts of the questioning but instead provided the overall gist of the procedure (See Appendix D).

Perceptions Questionnaire

Following all case materials, participants were presented with a 63-item perceptions questionnaire (see Appendix E). The perceptions questionnaires used were based on those used in past studies of perceptions confessions and juvenile suspects. The perceptions questionnaire was designed to measure the participants' perceptions of the suspect's guilt, the interrogation (the manner in which the suspect was questioned), the suspect's confession, the suspect's overall understanding of their legal rights, the police report (if one was provided), police in general, as well as affective reactions toward the suspect and victim.

Attention Checks

Before completing the series of perceptions questionnaires, each participant was asked to answer a series of attention/manipulation check questions in order to ensure that they had completely and accurately read all case materials. Participants were asked to recall the age of the defendant, and specific aspects of the crime (e.g., how the victim was killed, what key piece of evidence was discovered at the crime scene, and how the suspect knew the victim). They were also asked to recall details from the questioning excerpts and/ or police report (e.g., what evidence did the detectives present against the suspect and what was the suspects alibi).

Verdict Judgements

Regarding verdict judgements, each participant answered two questions modeled after those by Najdowski and Bottoms (2012) and Kassin et al. (2017). Mock jurors were first asked "What is your verdict in this case? Do you find the defendant guilty or not guilty of murder? (*guilty or not guilty*)". Participants were then asked whether they believed the defendant committed the crime he was charged with, "Regardless of your verdict, do you think the defendant murdered the victim in this case? (*yes or no*). In addition, each participant rated their confidence in their verdict decision on a 7-point Likert scale (1= not at all confident, 7= completely confident) (Najdowski & Bottoms, 2012). In an attempt to gain further insight into participants' decision making, they were also asked several free-response, open-ended questions. Participants were asked to provide reasons they believed the suspect was guilty or not guilty as well as what aspects of the questioning excerpts and/ or police report were most influential in their decision-making process. Participants were also asked whether they believed the defendant should be charged as an adult or a juvenile and their reasoning behind their decision.

In addition, participants were asked to rate on a 7-point Likert scale (1= very unlikely, 7= very likely), the degree to which they believed the confession given by the suspect was false. If participants stated that they believed it was at all likely that the confession given were false, they were then asked to provide three reasons they believed the confession may have been false.

Perceptions of Interrogation

The perceptions of the interrogation questionnaire was modeled after Kassin and McNall (1991) and Villamarin (2013). On separate 7-point Likert scales participants responded to nine items related to their perceptions of the interrogation of the suspect conducted by the police. Specifically, participants were asked to rate the overall fairness and coerciveness of the questioning as well as the degree of manipulation, pressure, and aggression they believed the detectives displayed during the questioning (Villamarin, 2013). In addition, participants rated the level of sympathy displayed by the detectives as well as the appropriateness of the techniques

used by the detectives given the nature of the crime and the suspect's age. Finally, based on the materials they were presented with, participants were asked whether they would describe the questioning of the suspect as an interrogation or an interview.

Perceptions of Confession

The three item perceptions of the confession questionnaire was adapted from the perceptions of confession questionnaire used in Redlich et al. (2008) and Villamarin (2013). Using a 7-point Likert scale (with higher scores indicating more positive views of the confession) participants were asked to rate the extent to which they believed the confession given by the suspect was voluntary, believable, and accurate.

Understanding of Rights

The understanding of rights questionnaire adapted from Villamarin (2013) was designed to measure the extent to which participants believed that the suspect had an understanding of their legal rights that are pertinent to the interrogative process. Participants were asked to rate eight items, on a 7-point Likert scale (1= very unlikely, 7= very likely), how likely it was that the suspect understood his basic legal rights: right to counsel, right to remain silent, and right to end questioning at any time. They were also asked to rate how likely it was that suspect understood the consequences of confessing: that the confession could be used against him and that he may lose his freedom by confessing. In addition, participants rated how likely it was that the suspect understood the questions being asked by the detectives and that he had a choice in confessing and signing the written statement presented to him.

Perceptions of Police Report

If participants were provided with police report evidence, they were asked to rate the perceived believability and accuracy as well as the extent to which it was reflective of the actual questioning on a 7-point Likert scale (1= not at all, 7= completely. Participants also rated the extent to which reading the police report influenced their overall verdict decision (1= not at all, 7= a great deal).

Affective Reactions

Following Bottoms et al. (2003) participants also completed a three-item affective reaction questionnaire ("I feel sorry for the defendant", "I have pity for the defendant", and "I have sympathy for the defendant") designed to assess emotional reactions toward the defendant (defense). An additional three items ("I have pity for the victim and her family", "It is the detectives' job to do whatever possible to obtain a confession", and "I have sympathy for the police") were added to assess affective reactions toward the victim and police (prosecution) and to provide filler items for the three highly similar items regarding sympathy for the suspect (Bottoms, Nysse-Carris, Harris, & Tyda, 2003).

Perceptions of Police

Participants completed a 6-item sub-scale from the original 34-item Police Perceptions Scale developed by Reynolds, Estrada-Reynolds, and Nunez (2018). The six items were chosen for their relevance to the content of the present study and correlation with total scale scores. All six items chosen had item-total correlations greater than .80. Each of the six items were presented as declarative statements about police behavior. Participants were then asked to rate on a 7-point Likert scale (1= completely disagree, 7= completely agree) the extent to which they agreed/ disagreed with each statement. Statements included "Police do their best to be fair to everyone", "Police officers treat people with respect", "People should trust the police to help", "I believe what police officers tell me", "Police officers desire justice", and "Police usually act in ways that are consistent with my ideas about what is right and wrong" (Reynolds, Estrada-Reynolds, & Nunez, 2018). This questionnaire was included in order to assess whether perceptions of police in general, rather than the specific detectives in this case, had a significant effect on verdict decision and perceptions of the questioning.

Demographics Questionnaire

Finally, participants completed a short demographics questionnaire. Participants were asked to provide their age, gender, ethnicity, political orientation, and highest level of education completed. Questions concerning participants' prior experience with police questioning (personally or through a close friend or family member) were also included. Finally, participants were asked whether or not they believed they would ever falsely confess and the degree of sympathy they feel for juveniles who commit crimes.

Procedure

Prior to the study, participants were presented with an informed consent form containing a summary/ objective of the study as well as their rights as participants. Once they had fully read the informed consent form they were asked to click "*Yes, I am over 18 and agree to participate*" to continue with the study. If participants clicked "yes" the proceeded with the study, if they clicked "no" they were exited from the study. Once they agreed to participate, participants were first presented with the case background information (adapted from *People v. Deskovic*). The case background provided participants with information about the crime, evidence collected, and the suspect. Participants were then randomly assigned to one of the three police report conditions (inaccurate police report, accurate police report, or no police report evidence). Police reports were presented prior to transcript evidence in attempt to mirror true court proceedings in which the prosecution presents evidence first. After being randomly assigned to one of the police report conditions, participants were again randomly assigned to either the highly or slightly coercive transcript evidence conditions. Finally, participants were again randomly assigned to either receive the transcript evidence or not receive any transcript evidence. It is important to note, however, that if participants were assigned to the no police report evidence, they automatically received transcript evidence. This was done in attempt to obtain ecological validity (in a real trial, there would not be a case in which jurors would receive no form of evidence) as well as the fact that if neither police report or transcript evidence was provided, participants would not have had enough information to effectively complete the perceptions questionnaires. After reading all assigned materials, participants the completed the perceptions and demographic questionnaires. The experiment concluded once the participant completed the demographics questionnaire.

CHAPTER III

RESULTS

Analysis Plan

First, analyses of the attention check questions were conducted to determine criteria for data exclusion. Next, the effects of the independent variables (coercion, police report condition, and transcript presence) on guilt verdicts were assessed using logistic regression analysis entering the following variables: report presence (present vs. not present), transcript presence (present vs. not present), report type (accurate vs. inaccurate) and coercion (slightly vs. highly). Effects of interactions between these variables were also assessed. Post hoc chi-square analyses were used to further examine differences in proportions of verdicts across conditions. Secondly, a series of 2x2x2 and 2x3 ANOVAs were conducted to examine potential differences in perceptions scale scores across conditions. Mean scale scores for each of the six perceptions scales were calculated for each participant by adding together item scores and dividing by the number of items in the scale. Separate post hoc t-tests were used to further analyze mean differences in the following groups: 1) report type: accurate vs inaccurate 2) report presence: police report provided vs no police report provided 3) transcript presence: transcript evidence present vs no transcript evidence present 4) coercion level: slightly vs. highly. A second logistic regression analysis (using the same independent variables listed above) was used to examine the six perceptions scale scores as predictors of guilt verdict. A third logistic regression examining demographic factors as predictors of guilt verdict was then run. A series of multiple regression

analyses was also conducted to assess demographic variables as predictors of each of the six perceptions scale scores. Lastly, preliminary qualitative data analyses on open-ended responses were conducted to determine themes in participants' reasoning regarding verdicts.

Attention Checks

Data were collected from 602 participants. A series of attention checks was used to ensure that participants had completely and accurately read and comprehended the materials presented. Attention check questions included: "*How old is the suspect in this case*?", "*What key piece of evidence was found at the crime scene in this case*?", "How was the victim killed in this case?", "How did the suspect know the victim in this case?", "What evidence did the detectives present against Corey", and "What did Corey say he was doing the afternoon Jane went missing?". All attention check questions were presented in a multiple-choice fashion with one correct answer except for "What evidence did the detectives present against Corey?" where a list of pieces of evidence was provided and participants were asked to mark all answers that applied.

Most (82.5%) participants correctly identified the suspects age as 16 years old. It is important to note that although some participants did answer incorrectly, most of their answers were close to the correct age (5.6% identified the suspect as 15 years-old while 3.9% identified the suspect as 17 years-old). Only 0.5% and 1.0% of participants identified the suspect as 11 or 12 years-old, respectively. We excluded seven participants due to answers that were more than 1 year different from the suspect's stated age.

Almost all (96.6%) of the participants correctly answered, "*What key piece of evidence was found at the crime scene*?" by choosing a note on lined paper, and 94.4% correctly

identified strangulation as the cause of death for the victim. Further, 90.2% correctly stated that the suspect stated he was playing video games the afternoon the victim went missing. In regard to the evidence presented to the suspect by police during the interrogation, 78.1% correctly identified "physical evidence at the crime scene" while 85.1% correctly identified "being tardy to school the day after the victim's disappearance".

Two of the six attention check questions were found to be predictive of answer quality on qualitative measures (how the victim was killed and how the suspect knew the victim). For example, participants who answered that the victim was shot also gave reasons for their verdict such as "yes" or "good". Therefore, these two manipulation check questions were also used to eliminate poor quality data. In other words, when participants failed these two attention checks, their data were excluded. Participants who failed to correctly identify the suspect's age, or answer close to the correct answer, were also excluded from further analysis. A total of seventeen participants (0.03%) were excluded solely due to attention check failure.

Perception Scale Scores Reliability Analysis

Reliability analyses were conducted for each of the six perceptions scales used in the current study. Analyses revealed excellent internal consistency values for each of the six scales (refer to Table 1 for Cronbach's alpha values).

| Table 1 Reliability | Coefficients | for All Six | Perce | ptions Scales |
|---------------------|--------------|-------------|-------|---------------|
| | | | | |

| Scale | Cronbach's Alpha Value |
|----------------------------------|------------------------|
| Perceptions of the Interrogation | 0.909 |
| Perceptions of the Confession | 0.923 |

| Understanding of Rights | 0.932 |
|--|-------|
| Perceptions of Police Report (if provided) | 0.886 |
| Sympathy for the Suspect | 0.944 |
| Perceptions of the Police | 0.895 |

Predicted Main Effects of Police Report, Transcript, and Coercion on Verdicts

A logistic regression analysis was conducted to assess the overall effect of condition on the dichotomous dependent variable of verdict outcome (guilty vs. not guilty) using the question "What would be your verdict in this case (guilty vs. not guilty)?". The following variables were entered into a logistic regression model: report presence (present vs. not present), transcript presence (present vs not present), report type (accurate vs. inaccurate), and coercion (slightly vs. highly). Analysis revealed that the inclusion of a police report significantly increased the percentage of guilty verdicts (Wald $\chi^2 = 15.83$, p=0.00, odds ratio= 0.493). This effect was strongest when no transcript evidence was provided, meaning percentages of guilty verdicts were highest in conditions in which participants only read a police report of the questioning and were not given transcript excerpts (Wald $\chi^2 = 45.71$, *p*=0.00). In fact, participants were four times more likely to render a verdict of not guilty when transcript evidence was not available, and they were made to rely solely on police report evidence (odds ratio= 4.22). Accuracy of the report provided (accurate vs inaccurate) was not a significant predictor of guilt verdict (p = 0.900), and this was the case both when transcript evidence was and was not provided. Effects of coercion trended toward significance (Wald χ^2 = 3.081, p= 0.079, odds ratio = 1.355). Participants were more likely to render a verdict of guilty in slightly coercive conditions than in highly coercive conditions; however, this effect was not statistically significant.

Post-hoc analyses were conducted to assess exactly where the significant differences occurred. Overall, 49.8% (N=300) of participants reported that they believed the suspect was guilty while 50.2% (N=303) of participants reported believing the suspect was not guilty. Further analysis assessed guilt verdicts by condition. First, a chi-square test of independence was performed to examine the relationship between guilt verdict and transcript condition (transcript evidence provided vs. no transcript evidence provided). Results revealed a significant relationship between these variables, $\chi^2(1) = 63.53$, *p*=0.00. There were significantly more guilty verdicts when transcript evidence was provided (remaining around 70% across conditions, see Table 2.) compared to when a transcript was provided (approximately 35%). When transcript evidence was not provided, the percentage of guilty verdicts was higher when the police report was inaccurate (approximately 73%) than when the report provided was an accurate representation of the questioning (approximately 68%), however this difference was not statistically significant.

The relationship between guilt verdict and report condition (accurate vs. inaccurate vs. no report provided) was also assessed. There was a significant relationship between guilt verdict and report condition $\chi^2(2) = 16.13$, p=0.00; there were more guilty verdicts when a police report of the questioning of the suspect was provided (either accurate or inaccurate) (approximately 40%) compared to when no report was given (approximately 30%) when collapsed across transcript and no transcript conditions. A final chi-square test was conducted to assess the relationship between guilt verdict and coercion level (highly vs. slightly coercive), however this test revealed no overall significant relationship (p=0.87). However, when no police report of the questioning

was provided, percentage of guilty verdicts did significantly differ based on coercion level. Further, participants were significantly more likely to vote guilty in the slightly coercive condition (45.2%) compared to the highly coercive condition (29.7%) (p= 0.00).

Police Report

| | | Yes | | No | | | | |
|-------------------|----------|------------------------|------------------------|-----------------------|--|--|--|--|
| <u>Transcript</u> | | Inaccurate | Accurate | | | | | |
| Yes | Highly | 33.3% (<i>N</i> =16) | 41.2% (<i>N</i> =21) | 29.7% (N=27) | | | | |
| | Slightly | 41.5% (<i>N</i> =22) | 35.4% (<i>N</i> =17) | 45.2% (<i>N</i> =47) | | | | |
| No | Highly | 72.5% (<i>N</i> =37) | 68.10% (<i>N</i> =32) | Х | | | | |
| | Slightly | 74.50% (<i>N</i> =41) | 72.7% (<i>N</i> = 40) | Х | | | | |

Figure 2 Percentage of Guilty Verdicts by Condition

Effects of Independent Variables on Perceptions Scale Scores

A series of 2 (transcript evidence provided: yes vs. no) x 2 (coercion level: slightly vs. highly) x 2 (report type: accurate vs inaccurate) analyses of variance (ANOVA) were conducted to assess summated scale scores for each of the six perceptions scales used in the current study. Because the design of this study was not fully crossed, the current analyses were collapsed so to exclude participants who did not receive a police report so that effect of transcript presence (no transcript vs transcript provided) could be assessed (see Figure 2). Because the presence of police report was revealed to have a significant effect on guilt verdict, participants who did not receive a police reports of the following analyses.

| | | Y | es | No | | |
|-------------|----------|------------|----------|----|--|--|
| Transcript_ | | Inaccurate | Accurate | | | |
| Yes | Highly | | | | | |
| | Slightly | | | | | |
| No | Highly | | | X | | |
| | Slightly | | | X | | |

Police Report

Figure 3 Conditions Included in 2x2x2 Analyses of Variance

Perceptions of Interrogation

Regarding the perceptions of the interrogation questionnaire, five of the nine scale items were reverse scored so that higher scores on each of the items would indicate more pro-suspect/ pro-defense perceptions. A significant main effect of transcript presence was revealed, F(1, 378) = 32.66, p = 0.00. Participants who received transcript evidence (M = 5.09, SD = 1.39) had significantly higher scores than participants who did not receive transcript evidence (M = 4.28, SD = 1.37), indicating that the presence of transcript evidence resulted in less positive views of the interrogation. In other words, participants who had transcript evidence available saw the interrogation as less fair, more coercive, and more manipulative. The analysis revealed no significant main effects of coercion level or report type (accurate vs. inaccurate) nor any significant interactions. However, the interaction between coercion level and report type trended toward significance (p = 0.058). More specifically, there was a greater mean difference in

interrogation scale score between report types (accurate vs. inaccurate) in slightly coercive conditions (mean difference= 0.3855) compared to highly coercive conditions (mean difference= 0.1230); inaccurate reports had a greater impact on verdict decision in slightly coercive conditions. This finding is in direct opposition of predictions which stated that inaccurate reports would have a greater impact in the highly coercive conditions.

Perceptions of Confession

A main effect of transcript presence was also found in the analysis of perceptions of the confession given by the suspect F(1, 404) = 76.24, p = 0.00. Participants who received transcript evidence (M = 3.01, SD = 1.84) had significantly lower scale scores than participants who did not receive transcript evidence (M = 4.57, SD = 1.75), with lower mean scale scores indicating perceptions that the confessions given was less voluntary, believable, or accurate. When transcript evidence was available, participants had less positive views of the confession given by the suspect, viewing the confession given as less believable, accurate, and consistent. Again, no additional main effects or interactions were revealed.

Perceptions of Suspect's Understanding of Rights

Analysis of perceptions of how well the suspect understood his legal rights (right to remain silent, right to counsel, etc.) revealed main effects of transcript presence, F(1, 396)= 31.64, p= 0.00 and report type, F(1, 400)= 4.10, p= 0.038. For this scale, higher scale scores indicated the belief that the suspect displayed better understanding of his legal rights while lower scale scores indicated the belief that the suspect did not adequately understand his legal rights. Participants who were provided with transcript evidence (M=4.99, SD= 1.55) reported believing

that the suspect had a better understanding of his legal rights than participants who did not receive transcript evidence (M= 4.09, SD= 1.68). In addition, participants who received an accurate police report (M= 4.69, SD= 1.70) also indicated that it was more likely that that suspect understood his legal rights than participants who were provided with an inaccurate police report (M= 4.37, SD= 1.64). The main effect of coercion level approached significance (p= 0.065) so that participants in slightly coercive conditions (M= 4.66, SD=1.68) were more likely to perceive that the suspect understood his rights than participants in highly coercive conditions (M= 4.40, SD= 1.69). No significant interactions were revealed.

Perceptions of Police Report

A significant main effect of transcript presence was also revealed by analysis of perceptions of the police report provided, F(1, 387)=10.08, p=0.002. As expected, when provided only with a police report (M=4.67, SD=1.66), participants had more positive views of the police report provided compared to when both a police report and transcript evidence was provided (M=4.15, SD=1.65). In this case, higher scale scores indicated more positive views of the police report provided (it was believable, accurate, and representative of the questioning conducted). It is important to note that no significant effects of report accuracy were revealed meaning that the actual accuracy of the report did not affect accuracy ratings. There were also no significant effect of coercion level.

Sympathy for the Suspect

A sympathy of the suspect scale score was calculated for each participant using three items from the six item affective reactions scale (*"I feel sorry for the suspect"; "I have pity for* *the suspect"; "I have sympathy for the suspect"*) with higher scale scores indicating more sympathy for the suspect. Again, analysis revealed a significant main effect of transcript evidence F(1, 401)=46.39, p=0.00, meaning when transcript excerpts of the questioning were provided, participants reported having significantly less sympathy for the suspect. Further, when presented with both a police report and transcript evidence, participants displayed significantly less sympathy for the suspect (M=3.35, SD=1.60) than participants who only read a police report (M=4.48, SD=1.71) (see Table 2).

Perceptions of Police

Lastly, the six item sub-scale of the perceptions of police scale was analyzed. No main effects or interactions were revealed, indicating that condition did not have a significant main effect on this particular scale score. This finding is likely due to the fact that this particular scale score was designed to tap preexisting personal beliefs and attitudes of participants rather than attitudes linked to stimulus materials presented.

| | | | Police Report Condition | | | | | | | | |
|-----------------------|----|------|-------------------------|----------|------|----------|------------|------|------|-----------|----------|
| | | | Асси | urate | |] | Inaccurate | | | No report | |
| Coercion Condition: | | Hi | ghly | Slightly | | Highly S | | Slig | ntly | Highly | Slightly |
| Transcript Condition: | | + | - | + | - | + | - | + | - | + | + |
| Scale: | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Interrogation | М | 5.05 | 4.18 | 5.24 | 4.57 | 5.19 | 4.31 | 4.91 | 4.08 | 5.23 | 4.93 |
| | SD | 1.32 | 1.14 | 1.37 | 1.38 | 1.41 | 1.53 | 1.45 | 1.40 | 1.25 | 1.32 |
| Confession | М | 3.04 | 4.84 | 2.85 | 4.33 | 2.94 | 4.50 | 3.19 | 4.62 | 2.55 | 3.15 |
| | SD | 1.73 | 1.58 | 1.74 | 1.83 | 1.74 | 1.87 | 2.14 | 1.71 | 1.60 | 1.77 |

Table 2 Mean Scale Scores (and SDs) for the Six Perceptions Scales by Condition

| Rights | M SD | 4.78 1.75 | 4.13 <i>1.63</i> | 5.49 4. 1.33 1.2 | | 3.78 1.73 | 4.82 1.55 | 4.02 1.60 | 5.12 1.37 | 4.70 1.66 |
|---------------|---------|--------------|---------------------|---------------------|----------------------------|---------------------|---------------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|
| Police Report | M SD | 4.06 1.58 | 4.93 1.38 | 3.93 4. 1.73 1.8 | 49 4.25 8 <i>3 1.79</i> | 4.70 <i>1.77</i> | 4.31 <i>1.51</i> | 4.58 1.62 | 4.30 1.58 | 4.51 1.59 |
| Sympathy | M SD | 3.41 1.72 | 4.62 1.68 | 3.28 4. 1.57 1.2 | | 4.57 1.81 | 3.32 1.55 | 4.69 1.57 | 3.08 1.45 | 3.57 1.68 |
| Police | M SD | 3.75 1.18 | 3.63 1.44 | 3.82 3. 1.08 1.4 | | 3.47 1.48 | 3.45 1.16 | 3.56 1.30 | 3.79 1.08 | 3.80 1.28 |

A series of independent samples t-tests were also conducted as *post-hoc* tests to further analyze differences in scale scores for the six perception scales across condition groups. Further, scale scores were compared in report type (accurate vs inaccurate), report presence (police report provided vs. no police report provided), transcript presence (transcript evidence provided vs. no transcript evidence provided), and coercion (slightly vs highly) conditions.

Results revealed a significant difference in confession scale score in report present (M=3.82, SD=1.96) compared to report not present conditions (M=2.87, SD=1.73); t(606)=-5.8, p=0.00 as well as a significant difference in sympathy for the suspect scale score in report present (M=3.93, SD=1.75) compared to report not present (M=3.33, SD=1.59) conditions; t(599)=-4.02, p=0.00. These results suggest that when a police report was provided, participants had more positive views of the confession (i.e., perceived it to be more accurate, believable, and voluntary) and displayed more sympathy for the suspect.

Results also revealed significant differences in scale scores for all perceptions scales except for the police perceptions scale based on transcript presence condition (transcript evidence present vs. no transcript evidence present). More specifically, perceptions of the interrogation scale scores were significantly lower in no transcript conditions (M=4.28, SD=1.37) than in transcript conditions (M=5.08, SD=1.33); t(566)=-6.68, p=0.00, indicating that when transcript evidence was provided participants had more pro-suspect perceptions of the interrogation (i.e., perceiving it as less fair, more coercive, etc.). Confession scale scores were also significantly higher in no transcript conditions (M=4.57, SD=1.75) compared to transcript conditions (M=2.96, SD=1.80); t(606)=10.62, p=0.00, suggesting that when an interrogation transcript was provided participants perceived the confession to be less accurate, believable, and voluntary.

Perceptions of the suspect's understanding of legal rights scale score was found to be significantly higher in transcript conditions (M=4.94, SD=1.55) compared to no transcript conditions (M=4.09, SD=1.68); t(595)=-6.206, p=0.00, meaning that participants who received transcript evidence perceived that the suspect had a better understanding of his legal rights than participants who did not receive a transcript. In addition, results indicated that there were significantly higher scale scores on the perceptions of the police report and sympathy for the suspect scales in no transcript conditions (M=4.67, SD=1.66; M=4.48, SD=1.71) compared to transcript conditions (M=4.25, SD=1.63; M=3.35, SD=1.59); t(530)=2.85, p=0.01, t(599)=8.08, p=0.00 respectively. These results indicate that when no transcript evidence was provided, participants had more positive views of the police report provided and displayed more sympathy for the suspect.

It is important to note that no significant differences in scale scores were found based on coercion level (slightly vs highly coercive) or report type (accurate vs inaccurate). However, the difference in perceptions of the suspect's understanding of rights scale score based on report type was found to be at cutoff for significance. Rights scale scores were higher in accurate report conditions (M=4.70, SD=1.70) compared to inaccurate report conditions (M=4.37, SD=1.64)

indicating that when given an accurate police report participants reported believing the suspect had a better understanding of his legal rights, t(398)=1.98, p=0.50.

A series of 2x3 ANOVA's was then conducted in which participants in no police report conditions were included and participants in the no transcript conditions were excluded (see Figure 4 below), however these analyses revealed no significant results.

| | | Y | es | No | |
|------------|----------|------------|----------|----|--|
| Transcript | | Inaccurate | Accurate | | |
| Yes | Highly | | | | |
| _ | Slightly | | | | |
| No | Highly | | | Х | |
| | Slightly | | | Х | |

Police Report

Figure 4 Conditions Included in the 2x3 Analyses of Variance

Scale Scores as Predictors of Guilt Verdict

Scale scores for each perceptions scale (perceptions of interrogation, confession, etc.) were calculated for each participant. A logistic regression analysis, using the same independent variables previously described, was conducted to assess the effect of each summated scale score on overall guilt verdict. Results revealed that overall perceptions of the interrogation (Wald χ^2 = 9.40, *p*= 0.002), perceptions of the confession (Wald χ^2 = 26.06, *p*= 0.00), and sympathy for the suspect (Wald χ^2 = 19.67, *p*= 0.00), were all significantly predictive of guilt verdict. As expected,

higher interrogation scale scores (indicating more negative, pro-suspect views of the interrogation) resulted in more not guilty verdicts. In fact, participants with more negative views of the interrogation were 1.89 times more likely to render a verdict of not guilty. Additionally, lower scale scores on the perceptions of the confession scale and sympathy for the suspect scale were associated with more not guilty verdicts. This suggests that higher sympathy for juvenile suspects and defendants was associated with more guilty verdicts. Contrary to predictions, it also suggests that more negative views of the confessions (less accurate, believable, and voluntary) were associated with more guilty verdicts.

Simple correlational analyses were also conducted to assess for relationships between guilt verdict and scale scores for each of the six perceptions scales. Unlike the logistic regression, results revealed that all scale scores were significantly correlated with guilt verdict. Guilt verdict was found to be significantly positively correlated with scores on the suspect's understanding of rights scale (r= 0.549, p=0.00), the police perceptions scale (r= 0.255, p=0.00), and the perceptions of the interrogation scale (r=0.675, p=0.00). These findings suggest that more negative views (e.g., more coercive) of the interrogation were associated with a verdict of not guilty. Interestingly, these results also suggest that perceptions that the suspect understood his legal rights and more positive perceptions of the police in general were positively related to not guilty verdicts. The more participants perceived that the suspect understood his legal rights, the more likely they were to render a verdict of not guilty. Additionally, more positive views of the police in general were related to not guilty verdicts. Significant negative correlations were found between guilt verdict and scale scores on the perceptions of the police report scale (r= -0.498, p=0.00), the perceptions of the confession scale (r= -0.736, p=0.00), and the sympathy for the suspect scale (r= -0.626, p=0.00). These results indicate that verdicts of not guilty were

associated with more negative views of the police report provided (when one was provided) and more negative views of the confession given by the suspect.

Additionally, logistic regression results were further confirmed in that positive perceptions of the interrogation (i.e., when the interrogation was perceived as fair) resulted in significantly more guilty verdicts. More positive views of the confession given by the suspect (voluntary, believable, and accurate) also related to significantly more guilty verdicts. In addition, more sympathy displayed for the suspect in the case resulted in significantly more guilty verdicts. Finally, in terms of perceptions of police in general, more negative perceptions of police resulted in significantly more guilty verdicts. The only scale score that was not predictive of guilt verdict was perceptions of the suspect's understanding of his legal rights.

Demographic Factors as Predictors of Guilt Verdict

Another logistic regression analysis was conducted to assess the relations between demographic factors and guilt verdicts. Demographic factors including age, gender, racial identity, education, political orientation, sympathy for juveniles in the legal system were included. Of the demographic factors included in the demographics survey, education (Wald χ^2 =6.45, p=0.01) and sympathy for juvenile suspects/ defendants (Wald χ^2 =18.75, p=0.00) proved significant predictors of overall guilt verdict. For the purposes of analysis, education was re-coded into four categories (less than high school, high school graduate, some/ completed college, graduate degree). Higher education achieved was associated with more not guilty verdicts; in fact, participants with higher education achievements were 1.16 times more likely to render a verdict of not guilty. Increased sympathy for juvenile who commit crimes was also found to be associated with a greater likelihood of rendering a not guilty verdict (odds ratio=

2.294). Other demographic factors such as gender, age, political orientation, and racial identity were not significantly predictive of guilt verdict.

In order to assess for the potential of any of the significant demographics moderating the relationships between condition and guilt verdict, a logistic regression including the significant independent variables and demographic factors was conducted. Results showed a significant interaction between report condition and highest level of education achieved (Wald $\chi^2 = 7.756$, p =0.005). Moderation analysis revealed that education level moderated the relationship between report condition and guilt verdict. A follow-up analysis of variance was conducted to determine differences between each education group. Results indicated that the graduate school group (including participants with some graduate school, a graduate degree, or professional degree) was significantly different from all other groups. Further, the graduate school group was more likely to render a verdict of not guilty when a police report was given (regardless of accuracy) compared to all other groups. In other words, the less than high school, high school graduate, and college groups appear to have been more influenced by the presence of a police report and therefore more likely to vote guilty. In addition, results indicated that participants with less than a high school diploma/ GED were more likely to render a verdict of guilty in the no report and accurate report conditions compared to all other groups. However, this result should be interpreted with caution due to the small sample size of this group (N=7).

Demographic Factors as Predictors of Scale Scores

A series of multiple-regression analyses were run to assess demographic factors as predictors of the individual perceptions scale scores. Demographics factors of gender, age, ethnicity, political orientation, and highest level of education achieved were included in the current analyses. Self-reported sympathy for juvenile criminals was also included to examine whether this factor was significantly related to perceptions of the case.

Sympathy for juveniles who commit crimes was found to be a significant predictor of all six perception scale scores. Specifically, more sympathy for juveniles was significantly related to more negative (pro-suspect) perceptions of the interrogation (β =0.434, p=0.000), more positive views of the police report if one was provided (β =0.335, p= 0.000), and more sympathy felt for the juvenile suspect in this particular case ($\beta = 0.839$, p = 0.000). These findings indicate that participants who reported more sympathy for juveniles who commit crimes had more negative views of the interrogation, more positive views of the police report provided, and displayed more sympathy for the juvenile suspect in this specific case. Surprisingly, more sympathy for juveniles was also significantly related to higher confession scale scores (β =0.507, p=0.000) indicating more positive views of the confession given (voluntary, believable, and accurate). Further, less sympathy was significantly associated with higher perceptions of the suspects understanding of rights scale scores (β =-0.451, p=0.000) and higher perceptions of police scale scores (β =-0.339, p=0.000), indicating that participants who reported less sympathy for juvenile criminals, in general perceived that the suspect in the case better understand his legal rights and had more positive attitudes toward the police in general.

Analyses also revealed that females on average had more negative views of the interrogation, seeing it as less fair and more coercive (β =0.354, p= 0.026). In addition, lower education levels were significantly associated with higher sympathy levels for the juvenile suspect in this case (β =-0.10, p=0.011), indicating that participants with lower education levels were more likely to display more sympathy for the juvenile in this case. Political orientation was found to be predictive of perceptions of police in general so that participants who reported being

more conservative displayed more positive attitudes and perceptions of police in general (β =-0.363, *p*=0.000).

Qualitative Analysis

Qualitative analysis was conducted on the first open-ended question (i.e., "Why did you choose guilty/ not guilty?") using a 20-code coding scheme in order to determine themes in participant answers (see Appendix F for list of codes used). Two independent raters coded 95% of the responses, achieving inter-rater reliability of 0.82; all disagreements in codes were eventually resolved through discussion. Themes were then compared between verdict to determine if differences existed between participants who voted guilty and those who voted not guilty.

The most common themes for participants who voted guilty included: he confessed therefore he is guilty (N= 117), evidence indicates guilty (N= 89), guilty behavior (N= 84), and the confession given was voluntary (N= 47). The most common themes for participants who voted not guilty included: the interrogation was coercive (N= 184), lack of/ unsubstantial evidence (N= 140), the confession given was due to fatigue (i.e., participants directly mentioned the length of time the suspect was questioned) (N= 107), no lawyer/ parent present (N= 59), and the suspect was too young (N= 46).

CHAPTER IV

DISCUSSION

The current study was conducted in order to assess how mock jurors' perceptions of a juvenile confession may vary as a function of questioning coerciveness (highly vs. slightly), police report accuracy (accurate vs. inaccurate), as well as type of evidence presented (police report only vs. transcript evidence only vs. both). This is the first study to analyze these factors together using a juvenile confession case.

In the present study, a significantly larger percentage of participants perceived the juvenile suspect as guilty when transcript evidence was unavailable and they were required to rely solely on a police report of the questioning. Further, when no transcript was given, participants reported more positive views of the interrogation (rating it as more fair, less coercive, and less manipulative) and the confession given by the suspect (rating it as more voluntary, believable, and accurate). Participants also reported more positive views of the police report when no transcript evidence was provided, rating the police report as more accurate, believable, and more reflective of the actual questioning. In addition, as predicted, results indicated that relying solely on a police report, regardless of accuracy, resulted in significantly more guilty verdicts. These results suggest that reading only a police account of questioning of a juvenile suspect leads to more negative views of the suspect, therefore increasing the likelihood of a guilty verdict. Based on the current findings it appears that mock jurors' ability to critically

analyze a suspect's confession and detect coerciveness of an interrogation is significantly diminished by reading a police report of the questioning.

Past research on actual police reports of questioning of suspects has indicated frequent errors of omission; coercive tactics used during questioning such as confrontation, leniency, and false evidence presentation are consistently absent from the police report of the questioning (Kassin et al., 2017). Thus, mock jurors tend to mischaracterize innocent suspects as guilty when only a police report of the interrogation conducted with the suspect is provided (Kassin et al., 2017). The current study further confirmed this finding by showing that relying solely on police report evidence lead to almost double the percentage of guilty verdicts compared to rates for mock jurors who were provided with transcript evidence of the questioning. Additionally, research has shown that police reports alone, without the addition of transcript evidence, leads mock jurors to perceive questioning as less coercive and pressure-filled (Kassin et al., 2017)

The present study builds on past research by showing that the mere presence of police report evidence can lead to pro-police biases in mock jurors. Even when transcript evidence was provided, the addition of a police report of the questioning was associated with more guilty verdicts and more positive perceptions of the questioning and confession. The presence of a police report also appeared to diminish mock jurors' ability to detect coerciveness of the interrogation conducted. When transcript evidence was available to participants, they saw both the slightly and highly coercive interrogations as coercive and manipulative, as indicated by low rates of guilty verdicts and overall higher interrogation scale scores. However, when a police report was also available, their perceptions concerning the interrogation were more positive and they saw it as less psychologically coercive overall. For example, when a police report was provided, regardless of accuracy, participants on average rated the interrogation approximately 5

52

on a 7-point Likert scale, while those who did *not* receive a police report obtained approximately a 4 on average.

Similar patterns of findings have been observed in studies regarding hearsay testimony in child sexual abuse cases (Tubb, Wood, & Hosch, 1999; Warren et al., 2002). For example, when mock jurors are given the actual interview (via transcript or verbatim description) conducted with the child witness, they are better able to assess the interview's reliability and suggestibility (Tubb et al., 1999). In addition, mock jurors presented only with gist hearsay testimony by the interviewer (omitting most specific questions and describing the questioning process as more open-ended) were significantly more likely to find the defendant guilty compared those presented with verbatim interview evidence (Warren et al., 2002). Researchers have hypothesized that these effects occur because gist testimonies present a neater view of the interview, often leaving out inconsistencies as well as any suggestive or leading questions.

These findings directly parallel with the current study by providing further evidence that indirect accounts of questioning of witnesses significantly distort what actually occurred during questioning and therefore influence mock jurors' perceptions of the questioning. These discoveries together suggest that indirect accounts of questioning (of witnesses and suspects) may affect mock jurors' ability to critically analyze the questioning, making it more difficult for them to detect suggestibility and coerciveness. It appears that mock jurors are taking these indirect accounts at face value. The results of the current study show that this can be extremely problematic for juvenile suspects who may falsely confess as a result of coercive interrogations; mock jurors are significantly more likely to find an innocent suspect guilty when these indirect accounts are presented.

53

When predictors of perceptions of interrogations and confessions (i.e., pre-existing individual differences such as demographic characteristics, sympathy for juveniles, and attitudes toward police) were examined, level of participant education and sympathy for juveniles each significantly predicted verdicts. Past research has indicated that higher sympathy displayed for juveniles as suspects and defendants is associated with more negative perceptions of the confession and therefore not guilty verdicts (Redlich et al., 2008). The current study further confirmed this finding as participants who reported feeling more sympathy for juveniles who commit crimes were more likely to vote not guilty. Furthermore, higher levels of education were associated with more not guilty verdicts, suggesting that participants with more education more critically analyzed the case materials and confession. Although it is also possible that people with higher education are more skeptical of the police in general, this conclusion was not supported by the current study as police perceptions scale scores did not significantly differ between education groups.

Education level was also found to interact with report condition in that participants who had some level of graduate education or a graduate/professional degree were significantly more likely than all other education groups to vote not guilty even when a police report was present. In addition, participants with less than a high school diploma were significantly more likely to render a guilty verdict when a police report was present, however due to small sample size (N=7) these results must be interpreted with caution. Importantly, the interaction of education and report condition did not change the effect of report condition, suggesting that it does not require a specific type of person to be affected by police reports. In other words, the effect of police reports on guilty verdict spans across demographic groups.

Prior research has found significant gender differences in perceptions of juvenile suspects and defendants; female mock jurors on average are more critical of police interrogations of juvenile suspects and more likely to believe a juvenile defendant's claims of falsely confessing (Redlich et al., 2010). However, it appears that this effect is moderated by sympathy levels. Female mock jurors tend to have higher sympathy levels for juveniles overall, so the effects may be better explained by sympathy level rather than gender per se (Redlich et al., 2010). The current study did not replicate any prior findings related to sympathy for the suspect/ defendant. In fact, in the current study, more sympathy displayed for the suspect was significantly associated with more guilty verdicts and this effect was not different based on participant gender.

Limitations

The largest limitation of the current study is the use of a fabricated rather than actual juvenile confession case and accompanying materials (police reports and transcript excerpts). The current study was designed to replicate the findings of Kassin and colleagues (2017) using a juvenile suspect. However, it would be very difficult, costly, and potentially unethical to subject juveniles to a mock crime and interrogation and to obtain a sample of police officers to question them. Therefore, we attempted to improve ecological validity by modeling the case and transcript excerpts on an actual juvenile false confession case. Furthermore, police reports were created to adhere as closely as possible to the real police reports from Kassin and colleagues (2017). However, it is unknown whether the results found in the current study would generalize to real juvenile false confession cases. In addition, jurors in a real-life juvenile false confession case would receive far more information and evidence during the trial process than the information provided in the current study. For example, jurors would likely be exposed to expert

testimony, analyses of physical evidence related to the crime, testimony and cross-examination of witnesses (including the defendant and police officers) and would likely receive jury instructions concerning burden of proof and how to analyze the confession and interrogation. Real jurors would also be given the chance to deliberate as a group instead of making a verdict decision on their own which could alter some jurors' perceptions post-evidence presentation.

Secondly, the current study used a high-profile juvenile false confession case as the model for the case materials which may have led to some biased results. It is possible that some of the participants were familiar with the real-life case the current fictional case was heavily based on which may have led to an inability to objectively analyze case materials presented. While none of the participants actually noted the Deskovic case in their open-ended question answers, some did mention similar cases such as the Brendan Dassey and Central Park Five cases. This may indicate that the current sample was not completely naïve which could have altered the current results. However, it should be noted that in a recent study, Mindthoff and colleagues (2018) found that despite increases in public awareness of false confession cases, people were still skeptical that confessions given may be false.

Another limitation involves the manipulation of interrogation coerciveness. Although the highly coercive interrogations contained three more instances of maximization and three more of minimization and were described as lasting 4 hours longer, mock jurors did not rate the slightly and highly coercive conditions any differently and they did not result in differing verdicts. In fact, participants appeared to see both the highly and slightly coercive interrogation conditions as very coercive and manipulative. It is possible that the two transcript versions were too similar and "slightly" may have been a misnomer.

Although I attempted to obtain a sample that was representative of all potential jurors in the United States by using both a student and Amazon MTurk sample, the final sample contained a large portion of educated (some college and higher) Caucasian (82.4%) individuals. Racial minorities as well as less educated individuals were significantly under-represented in the current study. Also, the mean age of the current sample (35.87), although above the typical mean age for a college sample, still skewed slightly young meaning it may not be entirely representative of the potential juror population. It is possible that results would have varied had the current sample been more diverse in these areas.

Finally, given the number of statistical analyses conducted on the current data set, the significance level of p = .05 may be too liberal and some of these results may have been due to chance alone. Particularly for the series of scale scores analyses, some of the findings should be viewed as exploratory and interpreted with caution.

Implications

Being wrongfully convicted has been shown to have detrimental psychological and social effects on individuals. Research has shown that many individuals released following a wrongful conviction experience a variety of psychological and psychiatric issues including but not limited to depression, anxiety, and post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) (Grounds, 2004). Many of these disorders develop as a result of the individual's feelings of isolation in their claims of innocence and being punished for a crime they did not commit. Individuals may also experience difficulties with interpersonal relationships due to a fundamental loss of trust in other people resulting from being wrongfully labeled as guilty by police officers, jury members, and the public (Grounds, 2004).

57

Adaptation to the world outside of prison has also proven to be extremely difficult for exonerees. Many exonerees experience great difficulty reintegrating with normal society; after living in a predictable, highly controlled environment, the real-world is often overwhelming (Grounds, 2004). In addition, more often than not, exonerees are released without the aid of social services or supports or any kind of financial compensation for the miscarriage of justice they have endured (Grounds, 2004). Following release, exonerees often experience social stigma; once convicted, many exonerees continue to be labeled as guilty despite the court definitively stating otherwise (Grounds, 2004; Scherr, Normile, & Putney, 2018). Research has also indicated that exonerees are viewed more negatively by the public than persons with no criminal history and in some instances as guilty parolees (Thompson, Molina, & Levett, 2011). , Thus, many exonerees have difficulty finding employment or establishing meaningful interpersonal relationships.

Past research on perceptions of exonerees has suggested that those who were initially convicted due to false confessions experience heightened stigma following release (Scherr et al., 2018). In a recent study by Scherr and colleagues (2018), participants perceived false confession exonerees as more guilty and less intelligent compared to other types of exonerees and were less willing to support efforts to support the exoneree through the reintegration process (such as psychological counseling and job training). False confession exonerees may be judged more negatively than other types of exonerees because people make dispositional attributions to make sense of and explain why an innocent person would confess to a crime they did not commit (Woestehoff & Meissner, 2016). For example, many people believe that the only explanations for why an innocent person would falsely confess include mental illness and/or low intelligence (Chojnacki, Cicchini, & White, 2008). In addition, people may view false confession exonerees

as more responsible for their legal outcome (i.e., they were imprisoned as a result of their own actions and their conviction could have been avoided had they acted differently) (Scherr et al., 2018). Overall, research suggests that despite public exoneration, persons who have been wrongfully convicted experience a variety of psychological and social issues following release and that these consequences may be more extreme for false confession exonerees.

Very little research has been conducted to assess consequences of juvenile wrongful convictions and specifically the consequences for juvenile false confession exonerees. However, it is likely that juvenile exonerees would experience similar consequences as adult exonerees. Moreover, consequences for juvenile exonerees may be exacerbated due to age-related factors. For example, because wrongfully convicted juveniles are imprisoned during developmentally formative years, they may experience more intense psychological and social consequences than adults. Based on the previously stated findings, it is clear that the time to intervene is before the wrongful conviction ever occurs. Unfortunately, however, it is too late for many; the damage is already done. Many juveniles who falsely confess receive lengthy sentences and spend several years in prison. For example, Jeff Deskovic spent nearly 16 years in prison for a murder he did not commit (InnocenceProject, 2019).

The findings underline the importance of the current study. A significant proportion of participants in the current study judged the juvenile suspect as guilty when a police report of the questioning and confession was provided; they might not have done so had they viewed only the actual interrogation. This is problematic because in real life confession trials jurors will always be exposed to police reports, police testimony, or both, concerning the confession obtained from the suspect, and they will be presented with this information prior to hearing from the defense. Based on the current results, this suggests that many jurors may be immediately biased against

the defendant, subsequently increasing the risk of wrongful conviction. Furthermore, jurors are not always presented with transcripts or recordings of the actual interrogations, and complete records of the interrogations do not always exist (Kassin et al., 2007) . In fact, most police departments in the U.S. resist recording interrogations citing that it would hinder the interrogation process and contaminate results; they report audio recording interrogations roughly 30% of the time and using video recording approximately 8% of the time (Kassin et al., 2007). The current study underlines the need for this more accurate type of record keeping by clearly illustrating its profound effects on jurors' perceptions and ultimately verdict decision.

Future Directions

Despite the limitations of the present study, we expanded upon the results found by Kassin and colleagues (2017) and extended them to juvenile confession cases. The current study is an important step in the study of mock jurors' perceptions of confessions as it is the first to analyze questioning quality, police report accuracy, and type of evidence presented together simultaneously. The current study is also the first to analyze these factors using a juvenile confession case. Overall, the present findings suggest that type of evidence presented to mock jurors has a profound effect on how they perceive a juvenile confession. More specifically, results indicate that reading police reports of suspect questioning leads mock jurors to judge a juvenile suspect as guilty and that this effect is heightened when verbatim evidence (i.e., transcripts) is not provided.

Because this is the first study specifically looking at these factors using a juvenile confession case, further research is needed to replicate and generalize the present findings to other types of juvenile interrogation cases. More specifically, these effects should be assessed using non-violent and non-sexual crimes. The current study did not replicate any sympathy effects displayed in prior research; more sympathy for the juvenile in this case was associated with more guilty verdicts. This could be due to the fact that the case used in the current study was a violent and sexual crime (rape and murder). Therefore, future studies should use crimes of a different nature.

In addition, potential factors that may alter the effects of police report evidence should be assessed. For instance, past research has shown that age of the suspect can affect mock jurors' perceptions of confession evidence (Redlich et al., 2008). The current study used a 16-year-old suspect; future research should determine whether results extend to older or younger juvenile suspects. Perceptions of confessions have also been shown to be affected by the suspects' mental status; mock jurors are much more likely to believe a suspect has falsely confessed if the suspect is described as mentally ill or having an intellectual impairment (Mindthoff et al., 2018). Therefore, future studies may manipulate the presentation of the juvenile suspect's mental status.

Recent research has also indicated that use of expert testimony can effectively increase juror sensitivity to false confession evidence (Woestehoff & Meissner, 2016). By providing scientific evidence and research on false confession risk factors such as coercive tactics and dispositional characteristics such as youth, expert witness testimony can help jurors more objectively judge confession evidence presented at trial. Further, recent research indicated that over three quarters of mock jurors agreed that expert testimony concerning how and why false confessions may occur would be useful in making a verdict decision (Mindthoff et al., 2018). Future studies should analyze the effect expert testimony in conjunction with police report evidence to assess how expert testimony may diminish the biasing effects of police reports.

61

Conclusion

Previous research has demonstrated that police reports of interrogations frequently omit prevalence of manipulative tactics used and downplay the overall coerciveness of the interrogation. Thus, relying solely on police reports of questioning of a suspect leads to biases against the suspect causing mock jurors to misjudge an innocent suspect as guilty (Kassin et al., 2017). The current study expanded these findings by showing that they hold true even when transcript excerpts of the questioning are provided. This study is also the first to extend these findings to a juvenile confession case. Participants who were provided with a police report of the questioning had more positive perceptions of the interrogation and confession and were more likely to find the innocent suspect guilty. These findings are crucial as they have direct implications for real life juvenile confession cases. The current study shows how easily jurors can be biased against a defendant that has confessed therefore increasing the risk of wrongful convictions. Future research should examine how other possible factors such as expert testimony and the suspect's age, mental state, intellectual ability, or other case characteristics can impact juror verdicts.

REFERENCES

- Appleby, S. C., Hasel, L. E., & Kassin, S. M. (2011). Police-induced confessions: An empirical analysis of their content and impact. *Psychology, Crime & Law, 19*(2), 1-18. doi:10.1080/1068316X.2011.613389
- Bernhard, P. A., & Miller, R. S. (2018). Juror perceptions of false confessions versus witness recantations. *Psychiatry, Psychology and Law, 25*(4), 539-549. doi:10.1080/13218719.2018.1463874
- Blandón-Gitlin, I., Sperry, K., & Leo, R. (2011). Jurors believe interrogation tactics are not likely to elicit false confessions: Will expert witness testimony inform them otherwise? *Psychology, Crime & Law, 17*(3), 239-260. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10683160903113699</u>
- Bonnie, R., & Scott, E. (2013). The teenage brain: Adolescent brain research and the law. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 22(2), 158. doi:10.1177/0963721413478416
- Bottoms, B., Nysse-Carris, K., Harris, T., & Tyda, K. (2003). Jurors' perceptions of adolescent sexual assault victims who have intellectual disabilities. *Law and Human Behavior*, 27(2), 205-227. doi:10.1023/A:1022551314668
- Candel, I., Merckelbach, H., Loyen, S., & Reyskens, H. (2005). "I hit the shift-key and then the computer crashed": Children and false admissions. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 38(6), 1381-1387. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2004.09.005</u>
- Chojnacki, D. E., Cicchini, M. D., & White, L. T. (2008). An empirical basis for the admission of expert testimony on false confessions. *Arizona State Law Journal*, 40, 1-1429.
- Cleary, H. M. D. (2014). Police interviewing and interrogation of juvenile suspects: A descriptive examination of actual cases. *Law and Human Behavior*, *38*(3), 271-282. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/lhb0000070</u>
- Cleary, H. M. D. (2017). Applying the lessons of developmental psychology to the study of juvenile interrogations: New directions for research, policy, and practice. *Psychology*, *Public Policy, and Law, 23*(1), 118-130. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/law0000120</u>

- Cleary, H. M. D., & Warner, T. C. (2016). Police training in interviewing and interrogation methods: A comparison of techniques used with adult and juvenile suspects. *Law and Human Behavior*, 40(3), 270-284. doi:10.1037/lbb0000175
- Davis, D., & Leo, R. A. (2012). Interrogation- related regulatory decline: Ego depletion, failures of self-regulation, and the decision to confess. *Psychology, Public Policy, and Law,* 18(4), 673-704. doi:10.1037/a0027367
- Drizin, S. A., Colgan, B. A., & Lassiter, G. D. (2004). Tales from the juvenile confession front: A guide to how standard police interrogation tactics can produce coerced and false confessions from juvenile suspects. *Interrogations, confessions, and entrapment* (pp. 127-162, Chapter xix, 290 Pages): Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers, New York, NY.
- Ghetti, S., & Redlich, A. D. (2001). Reactions to youth crime: Perceptions of accountability and competency. *Behavioral Sciences & the Law*, *19*(1), 33-52. doi:10.1002/bsl.426
- Goldstein, N. E. S., Condie, L. O., Kalbeitzer, R., Osman, D., & Geier, J. L. (2003). Juvenile offenders' Miranda rights comprehension and self-reported likelihood of offering false confessions. Assessment, 10(4), 359-369. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1073191103259535
- Grisso, T. (1981). Juveniles' waiver of rights : Legal and psychological competence.
- Grisso, T., Steinberg, L., Woolard, J., Cauffman, E., Scott, E., Graham, S., . . . Schwartz, R. (2003). Juveniles' competence to stand trial: A comparison of adolescents' and adults' capacities as trial defendants. *Law and Human Behavior*, 27(4), 333-363. doi:10.1023/A:1024065015717
- Grounds, A. (2004). Psychological consequences of wrongful conviction and imprisonment. *Canadian Journal of Criminology and Criminal Justice*, 46(2), 165-182. doi:10.3138/cjccj.46.2.165
- Gudjonsson, G. H., & Pearse, J. (2011). Suspect interviews and false confessions. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 20(1), 33-37. doi:10.1177/0963721410396824
- Henkel, L. A., Coffman, K. A. J., & Dailey, B. A. E. M. (2008). A survey of people's attitudes and beliefs about false confessions. *Behavioral Sciences & the Law*, 26(5), 555-584. doi:10.1002/bsl.826

Hritz, A., Blau, M., & Tomezsko, S. (2010). False Confessions.

InnocenceProject. (2007). False Confessions and Recording of Custodial Interrogations.

InnocenceProject. (2017). Jonathan Barr.

InnocenceProject. (2019). Jeff Deskovic.

J.B.D. v. North Carolina, 321 (2010).

- Kassin, Drizin, S. A., Grisso, T., Gudjonsson, G. H., Leo, R. A., & Redlich, A. D. (2010). Police-induced confessions, risk factors, and recommendations: Looking ahead. *Law and Human Behavior*, 34(1), 49-52. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10979-010-9217-5</u>
- Kassin, S., Leo, R., Meissner, C., Richman, K., Colwell, L., Leach, A.-M., & Fon, D. (2007).
 Police interviewing and interrogation: A self-report survey of police practices and beliefs. *Law and Human Behavior*, *31*(4), 381-400. doi:10.1007/s10979-006-9073-5
- Kassin, S., & McNall, K. (1991). Police interrogations and confessions. *Law and Human Behavior*, *15*(3), 233-251. doi:10.1007/BF01061711
- Kassin, S., & Norwick, R. (2004). Why people waive their Miranda rights: The power of innocence. *Law and Human Behavior*, 28(2), 211-221. doi:10.1023/B:LAHU.0000022323.74584.f5
- Kassin, S. M. (2012). "Why confessions trump innocence": Corrections and updates to Kassin (2012). *American Psychologist*, 67(6), 445. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0029885</u>
- Kassin, S. M. (2017). False confessions: How can psychology so basic be so counterintuitive? *American Psychologist*, 72(9), 951-964. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/amp0000195</u>
- Kassin, S. M., Goldstein, C. C., & Savitsky, K. (2003). Behavioral confirmation in the interrogation room: On the dangers of presuming guilt. *Law and Human Behavior*, 27(2), 187-203. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1023/A:1022599230598</u>
- Kassin, S. M., Kukucka, J., Lawson, V. Z., & Decarlo, J. (2017). Police reports of mock suspect interrogations: A test of accuracy and perception. *Law and Human Behavior*, 41(3), 230-243. doi:10.1037/lbb0000225
- Kassin, S. M., & Mcnall, K. (1991). Police interrogations and confessions Communicating promises and threats by pragmatic implication. *Law and Human Behavior*, 15(3), 233-251. doi:Doi 10.1007/Bf01061711
- Kassin, S. M., & Neumann, K. (1997). On the power of confession evidence: An experimental test of the fundamental difference hypothesis. *Law and Human Behavior*, *21*(5), 469-484. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1023/A:1024871622490
- Kassin, S. M., & Wrightsman, L. S. (1981). Coerced confessions, judicial instruction, and mock juror verdicts. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, *11*(6), 489-506. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1559-1816.1981.tb00838.x</u>

- Keatley, D. A., Marono, A., & Clarke, D. D. (2018). Unmaking a murderer: Behaviour sequence analysis of false confessions. *Psychiatry, Psychology and Law*, 25(3), 425-436. doi:10.1080/13218719.2018.1463875
- Kelly, C. E., Miller, J. C., Redlich, A. D., & Kleinman, S. M. (2013). A taxonomy of interrogation methods. *Psychology, Public Policy, and Law, 19*(2), 165-178. doi:10.1037/a0030310
- Kostelnik, J. O., & Reppucci, N. D. (2009). Reid training and sensitivity to developmental maturity in interrogation: Results from a national survey of police. *Behavioral Sciences & the Law*, 27(3), 361-379. doi:10.1002/bsl.871
- Lamb, M., Orbach, Y., Sternberg, K., Hershkowitz, I., & Horowitz, D. (2000). Accuracy of investigators' verbatim notes of their forensic interviews with alleged child abuse victims. *Law and Human Behavior*, 24(6), 699-708. doi:10.1023/A:1005556404636
- Leo, R. A., & Davis, D. (2010). From false confession to wrongful conviction: Seven psychological processes. *Journal of Psychiatry & Law*, 38(1-2), 9-56. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/009318531003800103</u>
- Leo, R. A., & Liu, B. (2009). What do potential jurors know about police interrogation techniques and false confessions? *Behavioral Sciences & the Law*, 27(3), 381-399. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/bsl.872
- Malloy, L. C., Shulman, E. P., & Cauffman, E. (2014). Interrogations, confessions, and guilty pleas among serious adolescent offenders. *Law and Human Behavior*, 38(2), 181-193. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/lhb0000065</u>
- Mindthoff, A., Evans, J. R., Perez, G., Woestehoff, S. A., Olaguez, A. P., Klemfuss, J. Z., ... Woody, W. D. (2018). A survey of potential jurors' perceptions of interrogations and confessions. *Psychology, Public Policy, and Law, 24*(4), 430-448. doi:10.1037/law0000182
- Najdowski, C. J., & Bottoms, B. L. (2012). Understanding jurors' judgments in cases involving juvenile defendants: Effects of confession evidence and intellectual disability. *Psychology, Public Policy, and Law, 18*(2), 297-337. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0025786</u>
- Paton, W., Bain, S. A., Gozna, L., Gilchrist, E., Heim, D., Gardner, E., . . . Fischer, R. (2018). The combined effects of questioning technique and interviewer manner on false confessions. *Journal of Investigative Psychology and Offender Profiling*, 15(3), 335-349. doi:10.1002/jip.1513
- Perillo, J. T., & Kassin, S. M. (2011). Inside interrogation: The lie, the bluff, and false confessions. *Law and Human Behavior*, 35(4), 327-337. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10979-010-9244-2</u>

- Redlich, A. D. (2010). The susceptibility of juveniles to false confessions and false guilty pleas.(Symposium 2010: Righting the Wronged: Causes, Effects, and Remedies of Juvenile Wrongful Conviction). *Rutgers Law Review*, 62(4), 943-957.
- Redlich, A. D., Kelly, C. E., & Miller, J. C. (2014). The who, what, and why of human intelligence gathering: Self-reported measures of interrogation methods. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 28(6), 817-828. doi:10.1002/acp.3040
- Redlich, A. D., Quas, J. A., & Ghetti, S. (2008). Perceptions of children during a police interrogation: Guilt, confessions, and interview fairness. *Psychology, Crime & Law*, 14(3), 201-223. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10683160701652542
- Reid, J. E. (1977). Truth and deception : the polygraph ("lie-detector") technique.
- Reynolds, J. J., Estrada-Reynolds, V., & Nunez, N. (2018). Development and validation of the attitudes towards police legitimacy scale. *Law and Human Behavior*, *42*(2), 119-134. doi:10.1037/lbb0000281
- Rogers, R., Blackwood, H. L., Fiduccia, C. E., Steadham, J. A., Drogin, E. Y., & Rogstad, J. E. (2012). Juvenile Miranda warnings: Perfunctory rituals or procedural safeguards? *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 39(3), 229-249. doi:10.1177/0093854811431934
- Ross, L. D., Amabile, T. M., & Steinmetz, J. L. (1977). Social roles, social control, and biases in social-perception processes. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 35(7), 485-494. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.35.7.485
- Scherr, K. C., Normile, C. J., & Putney, H. (2018). Perpetually stigmatized: False confessions prompt underlying mechanisms that motivate negative perceptions of exonerees. *Psychology, Public Policy, and Law,* 24(3), 341-352. doi:10.1037/law0000163
- Shuy, R. W. (2000). The language of confession, interrogation, and deception *Lang. Soc.* (Vol. 29, pp. 425-428). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Thompson, Molina, & Levett. (2011). After exoneration: An investigation of stigma and wrongufly convicted persons. *Albany Law Review*, 75, 1373-2199.
- Tubb, A. V., Wood, J. M., & Hosch, H. M. (1999). Effects of suggestive interviewing and indirect evidence on child credibility in a sexual abuse case. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 29(6), 1111-1127. doi:10.1111/j.1559-1816.1999.tb02031.x
- Villamarin, K. (2013). Perceptions of confessions by juvenile suspects: Effects of interrogation technique and suspect age. In A. R. Warren, D. Ross, & B. Weathington (Eds.): ProQuest Dissertations Publishing.

- Warren, A. R., Nunez, N., Keeney, J. M., Buck, J. A., & Smith, B. (2002). The believability of children and their interviewers' hearsay testimony: When less is more. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 87(5), 846-857. doi:10.1037/0021-9010.87.5.846
- Warren, A. R., & Woodall, C. E. (1999). The reliability of hearsay testimony: how well do interviewers recall their interviews with children? *Psychology, Public Policy, and Law*, 5(2), 355-371. doi:10.1037/1076-8971.5.2.355
- Woestehoff, S. A., & Meissner, C. A. (2016). Juror sensitivity to false confession risk factors: Dispositional vs. situational attributions for a confession. *Law and Human Behavior*, 40(5), 564-579. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/lhb0000201</u>
- Zelle, H., Romaine, C. L. R., & Goldstein, N. E. S. (2015). Juveniles' Miranda comprehension: Understanding, appreciation, and totality of circumstances factors. *Law and Human Behavior*, 39(3), 281-293. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/lhb0000116</u>

APPENDIX A

IRB APPROVAL LETTER



Institutional Review Board

Dept 4915 615 McCallie Avenue Chattanooga, TN 37403 Phone: (423) 425-5867 Fax: (423) 425-4052 instrb@utc.edu http://www.utc.edu/irb

 TO:
 Morgan N. Andrews
 IRB # 18-093

 Drs. David Ferrier, David F. Ross, and Amye R. Warren
 IRB # 18-093

 FROM:
 Lindsay Pardue, Director of Research Integrity

 Dr. Amy Doolittle, IRB Committee Chair

DATE: 8/21/2018

SUBJECT: IRB #18-093: Perceptions of Juvenile False Confessions as a Function of Police Report and Interview Quality

Thank you for submitting your application for research involving human subjects to The University of Tennessee at Chattanooga Institutional Review Board. Your proposal was evaluated in light of the federal regulations that govern the protection of human subjects and approved via the expedited review procedure authorized by 45 CFR 46.110 and 21 CFR 56.110.

You must include the following approval statement on research materials seen by participants and used in research reports:

The Institutional Review Board of the University of Tennessee at Chattanooga (FWA00004149) has approved this research project # 18-093.

Please keep in mind that all research must be conducted according to the proposal submitted to the UTC IRB. If changes to the approved protocol occur, a revised protocol must be reviewed and approved by the IRB before implementation. For any proposed changes in your research protocol, please submit an Application for Changes, Annual Review, or Project Termination/Completion form to the UTC IRB. Please bear in mind that significant changes could result in having to develop a new application for submission and approval. Your protocol will be automatically closed at the end of the proposed research period unless a change request application is submitted. No research may take place under a closed or expired protocol.

A goal of the IRB is to prevent negative occurrences during any research study. However, despite our best intent, unforeseen circumstances or events may arise during the research. If an unexpected situation or adverse event happens during your investigation, please notify the UTC IRB as soon as possible. Once notified, we will ask for a complete explanation of the event and your response. Other actions also may be required depending on the nature of the event.

The University of Tennessee at Chattanooga is a comprehensive, community-engaged campus of the University of Tennessee System.

APPENDIX B

CASE BACKGROUND

At approximately 4pm on the afternoon of August 12th, 2010, 16 year-old Jane Smith left her Winchester, Illinois home. Jane made her way to a nature trail close to her home. By 8pm Jane had not returned home, her parents began to worry and called the police to report their daughter missing.

The next day, Jane had still not returned home and was officially declared missing by the Winchester Police Department at approximately 8pm August 13th, 2010. The police department organized search parties to search the nature trail Jane was last thought to be as well as the areas surrounding her home. Jane's iPod and camera were found along the trail along with a torn piece of clothing thought to be from Jane's sports bra.

At approximately 10am on August 14th, 2010 police dogs alerted officers to a small area of brush about 20 feet away off the middle of the trail. Under a pile of leaves and debris, Jane's body was found in a shallow hole. She was partially nude and had several bruises and scratches covering her body. A handwritten note on lined notebook paper was also found in the hole with the body, however the words on the note could not be deciphered. A homicide investigation was immediately initiated by the Winchester Police Department. Upon further examination of the body, the county coroner determined that Jane had been raped, beaten, and strangled to death before the killer attempted to cover her body. A rape kit was conducted in order to obtain DNA evidence and Jane's possessions were assessed for fingerprints. No conclusive biological evidence was found.

Jane's funeral was held three days later. Among the attendees was 16 year-old Corey Brown, a shy student who Jane had tutored in math after school for the past few months. Corey stated to Jane's parents that she was one of his only friends. At the funeral Corey was visibly upset, crying and distraught. Corey's behavior began to raise suspicion in the detectives on the case and as a result, Corey became the primary suspect. Police began to investigate Corey and found that he had been tardy to school the morning after Jane was reported missing. Investigation of Corey's locker also revealed lined notebook paper similar to that found under the body at the crime scene.

Over the next month, police spoke with Corey a total of eight different times in which he repeatedly denied any involvement in the murder. However, he reported wanting to help with the investigation and continued to cooperate.

On September 2nd, 2010 police asked to speak to Corey again. Corey drove himself to the police station. He was placed in a small room at the police station, without a parent or attorney present, where the questioning began.

APPENDIX C

TRANSCRIPT EXCERPTS

Highly Coercive Excerpts

Wednesday September 2nd, 2010 10:00am

Detective Adams: Good morning Corey. As you remember, I am Detective Adams, and this is Detective Davis and we just want to talk to you for a little bit about the Jane Smith case, which I know you are familiar with. Is that okay?

Corey Brown: Yeah.

Detective Adams: Corey, I just ask that while we talk today you answer all of my questions honestly. You won't be in any trouble as long as you tell the truth. Can you promise to tell the truth, Corey?

Corey Brown: Yeah.

Detective Davis: Okay, so before we get started I just want to remind you of your rights, which we have gone over before. You have the right to not talk to us and if at any point you want an attorney, just let us know, okay? But remember, Corey, you aren't in any trouble we just want to talk to you. Do you agree to talk to us, Corey?

Corey Brown: Yeah.

Detective Adams: Great. So can you remind me of exactly how you knew Jane?

Corey Brown: She went to school with me. She tutored me in math a couple times.

Detective Davis: That was nice of her. Do you think that was a nice thing for her to do Corey?

Corey Brown: Yeah, she was a nice person. She helped me out a lot. I'm not very good at math.

Detective Davis: So you liked spending time with her?

Corey Brown: Yeah.

Detective Adams: Would you say you two were friends?

Corey Brown: Yeah, I think we were.

Detective Davis: Do you have a lot of friends, Corey?

Corey Brown: I have a few.

Detective Davis: So would you say Jane was one of your few friends?

Corey Brown: Yeah, I guess so.

Detective Adams: Would you say you were close friends? Like best friends?

Corey Brown: No, I wouldn't say we were close. Just friends, that's all.

Detective Adams: Oh, I figured you two were close, considering how upset Jane's parents said you were at her funeral.

Detective Davis: Why were you so upset Corey?

Corey Brown: It was really sad. She was one of my friends. She didn't deserve to die like that. It was just sad that's all.

Detective Adams: Die like what? What can you tell me about how she died?

Corey Brown: I just meant she didn't deserve to be hurt. She was a good person.

Detective Adams: So if she didn't deserve to die, then you understand why you need to help us catch her killer? That's why we asked you to talk to us.

Detective Davis: All we are trying to do, Corey, is get to the bottom of this, and we think you know a lot more than you are telling us. So why don't you just tell us what you know Corey? Corey Brown: I've already told you everything I know.

Detective Adams: I think maybe there's more you can remember.

Detective Davis: Think, Corey. You have to know more than you are telling us.

Wednesday, September 2nd, 2010 11:45am

Detective Adams: Ok, let's go back to the day that Jane went missing. Where were you that day? August 12, 2010?

Corey Brown: I was at school.

Detective Adams: What about after school? What did you do when school was over?

Corey Brown: I went home and played some video games with my cousin.

Detective Adams: Do you remember what time it was when you got home?

Corey Brown: I think 3:30.

Detective Adams: And do you remember how long you played video games with your cousin? Corey Brown: About 2 hours.

Detective Adams: So until about 5:30? Is that correct?

Corey Brown: Yes, I think so.

Detective Adams: So what game were you playing?

Corey Brown: Probably Call of Duty.

Detective Adams: Is your cousin going to be able to back you up on this?

Corey Brown: Um I don't know. I guess so. You can ask him.

Detective Davis: We have asked him, and he isn't so clear on this.

Detective Adams: Did you go anywhere else that evening, other than your house?

Corey Brown: No.

Detective Adams: So when you got home from school, you stayed there the rest of the night? Corey Brown: Yes.

Detective Adams: And you're positive that you did not leave your house after getting home from school?

Corey Brown: Yes.

Detective Brown: If we talk to your mother, she can verify all this?

Corey Brown: Yeah, I guess so.

Detective Davis: Try to think harder, Corey. I know it was a while ago so it can be hard to remember everything you did that day, but we really need you to try. Are you sure you didn't do anything else that evening? Maybe you played basketball or took a walk in the park near your house? Did you do anything like that?

Corey Brown: No I just stayed at home.

Detective Davis: Ok Corey. I'll just cut to the chase. I asked to speak with you today because we have evidence that links you to Jane's murder.

Corey Brown: But I didn't do anything! I told you before she was my friend. I wouldn't do that to her!

Detective Adams: Okay, Corey, calm down. Everything will be fine as long as you cooperate with us. We'll make sure everything works out for you, but you have to work with us here. We can't help you unless you help us.

Wednesday September 2nd, 2010 1:00pm

Detective Adams: We've been talking a while now Corey, and I think it's time for you to be honest. Please tell me exactly what happened, and we can be done here, you can go home. Can you do that Corey?

Corey Brown: I keep telling you I didn't do anything! I can't tell you what happened if I don't know what happened!

Detective Adams: Our records show that you were tardy to school the day after Jane went missing.

Detective Davis: Some of the other kids at school tell us you were acting suspiciously. Why were you tardy that day?

Corey Brown: I wasn't feeling well that morning, so I decided to stay home for a while until I felt better.

Detective Adams: Why didn't you feel well?

Corey Brown: I just didn't, I don't know.

Detective Adams: Are you sure you weren't feeling guilty about doing something you shouldn't have?

Corey Brown: No! I just didn't feel good that's all. Look, I didn't have anything to do with this! I've told you over and over! Why don't you believe me?

Detective Adams: There's no reason to get upset Corey, if you really didn't do anything. But your reactions to my questions so far are telling me that's not the case. Just remember Corey, I am here to help you. I am on your side. If you just tell me what happened I can help you. I'll make sure everything works out in your favor.

Corey Brown: I promise you I didn't hurt her! I would never do that!

Detective Adams: Ok Corey. I'll level with you. We examined your locker at school and found lined paper that matches the paper a note found at the crime scene was written on. We have physical evidence linking you to the crime scene Corey. We know you're our guy, we just need you to tell us what happened. And this is how it's going to work; either you tell us what happened and let us help you or you continue to lie and make excuses and I tell the judge you wouldn't cooperate with us. Which do you want Corey?

Detective Davis: Here is what we think happened, Corey. We think you liked Jane a lot more than you are telling us and maybe you even wanted to date her. We think you saw her go into the woods that evening and you followed her to ask her out. And when she said no you kept persisting, but her answer didn't change and that's when you got mad. Maybe you grabbed her when she tried to get away and put your hand over her mouth, so she wouldn't scream. But maybe you grabbed her a little too hard and choked her. Maybe it was all an accident Corey. Detective Adams: We don't think you did this on purpose Corey. We know you are a good kid. We think you just got carried away and made a mistake, but you have to own up to that mistake now. It's time for you to tell the truth.

Wednesday September 12th, 2010 3:00pm

Detective Adams: The fact of the matter is, Corey, all the evidence points to you being the guy who did this. It's only a matter of time before we get the DNA evidence that will confirm what we already know. If you confess before that happens, things will go much better for you. Now if you continue to make things difficult for us, your punishment will be much worse, I can guarantee that.

Corey Brown: I just don't understand why this is happening to me.

Detective Davis: Corey, we've gone over this several times, you have to be honest with us. We already know what happened and that you are responsible for this. C'mon Corey, what would your mother think of you lying to us like this? Do you think this would make her happy? Corey Brown: No, but I'm not lying.

Detective Davis: Then tell us what really happened in the woods that day.

Corey Brown: I can't do this anymore, I just want this to be over!

Detective Davis: There is only one way to leave this all behind you, Corey. Just tell us what you did. We all know what you did, Corey, you just have to say it. Corey: Okay. Detective Adams: So let's get this straight, you had a crush on Jane and followed her into the woods that evening to ask her out. She refused, and you got angry and killed her. You strangled her and hit her head with something. Is that about right Corey? Corey Brown: Yeah. Sure. Can I go home now? Detective Davis: Tell us how it happened and this will be over. Corey Brown: I followed Jane into the woods. I grabbed her and put my hand over her mouth. I must have held it there too long because she stopped breathing. Detective Adams: And then what happened? What happened to her head? Corey Brown: I hit it. Detective Davis: What'd you hit it with? Corey Brown: A rock. Detective Adams: So you hit her with a rock. Corey Brown: Yeah. Detective Davis: Why did you do it, Corey? Corey Brown: I don't know Detective Davis: Come on Corey, you need to tell us the truth here. Corey Brown: I was mad because she wouldn't go out with me, I guess. Detective Adams: Okay, Corey, we are going to get this statement typed up so that you can sign it for us. Corey Brown: Okay.

Slightly Coercive Excerpts

Wednesday September 2nd, 2010 10:00am

Detective Adams: Good morning Corey. As you remember, I am Detective Adams, and this is Detective Davis and we just want to talk to you for a little bit about the Jane Smith case, which I know you are familiar with. Is that okay?

Corey Brown: Yeah.

Detective Adams: Corey, I just ask that while we talk today you answer all of my questions honestly. You won't be in any trouble as long as you tell the truth. Can you promise to tell the truth, Corey?

Corey Brown: Yeah.

Detective Davis: Okay, so before we get started I just want to remind you of your rights, which we have gone over before. You have the right to not talk to us and if at any point you want an attorney, just let us know, okay? Do you agree to talk to us, Corey?

Corey Brown: Yeah.

Detective Adams: Great. So can you remind me of exactly how you knew Jane?

Corey Brown: She went to school with me. She tutored me in math a couple times.

Detective Davis: That was nice of her. Do you think that was a nice thing for her to do Corey? Corey Brown: Yeah, she was a nice person. She helped me out a lot. I'm not very good at math. Detective Davis: So you liked spending time with her? Corey Brown: Yeah.

Detective Adams: Would you say you two were friends?

Corey Brown: Yeah, I think we were.

Detective Davis: Do you have a lot of friends, Corey?

Corey Brown: I have a few.

Detective Davis: So would you say Jane was one of your few friends?

Corey Brown: Yeah, I guess so.

Detective Adams: Would you say you were close friends? Like best friends?

Corey Brown: No, I wouldn't say we were close. Just friends, that's all.

Detective Adams: Oh, I figured you two were close, considering how upset Jane's parents said you were at her funeral.

Detective Davis: Why were you so upset Corey?

Corey Brown: It was really sad. She was one of my friends. She didn't deserve to die like that. It was just sad that's all.

Detective Adams: Die like what? What can you tell me about how she died?

Corey Brown: I just meant she didn't deserve to be hurt. She was a good person.

Detective Adams: So if she didn't deserve to die, then you understand why you need to help us catch her killer? That's why we asked you to talk to us.

Detective Davis: All we are trying to do, Corey, is get to the bottom of this, and we think you know a lot more than you are telling us. So why don't you just tell us what you know Corey? Corey Brown: I've already told you everything I know.

Detective Adams: I think maybe there's more you can remember.

Wednesday, September 2nd, 2010 10:30am

Detective Adams: Ok, let's go back to the day that Jane went missing. Where were you that day? August 12, 2010?

Corey Brown: I was at school.

Detective Adams: What about after school? What did you do when school was over?

Corey Brown: I went home and played some video games with my cousin.

Detective Adams: Do you remember what time it was when you got home?

Corey Brown: I think 3:30.

Detective Adams: And do you remember how long you played video games with your cousin? Corey Brown: About 2 hours.

Detective Adams: So until about 5:30? Is that correct?

Corey Brown: Yes, I think so.

Detective Adams: So what game were you playing?

Corey Brown: Call of Duty maybe.

Detective Adams: Is your cousin going to be able to back you up on this?

Corey Brown: Um I don't know. I guess so. You can ask him.

Detective Adams: Did you go anywhere else that evening, other than your house? Corey Brown: No.

Detective Adams: So when you got home from school, you stayed there the rest of the night? Corey Brown: Yes.

Detective Adams: And you're positive that you did not leave your house after getting home from school?

Corey Brown: Yes.

Detective Brown: If we talk to your mother, she can verify all this?

Corey Brown: Yeah, I guess so.

Detective Davis: Try to think harder, Corey. I know it was a while ago so it can be hard to remember everything you did that day, but we really need you to try. Are you sure you didn't do anything else that evening?

Corey Brown: No I just stayed at home.

Detective Davis: Ok Corey. I'll just cut to the chase. I asked to speak with you today because we have evidence that links you to Jane's murder.

Corey Brown: But I didn't do anything! I told you before she was my friend. I wouldn't do that to her!

Detective Adams: Okay, Corey, calm down. Everything is going to be okay, but you have to work with us, okay?

Wednesday September 2nd, 2010 11:00am

Detective Adams: We've been talking a while now Corey, and I think it's time for you to be honest. Please tell me exactly what happened, and we can be done here, you can go home. Can you do that Corey?

Corey Brown: I keep telling you I didn't do anything! I can't tell you what happened if I don't know what happened!

Detective Adams: Our records show that you were tardy to school the day after Jane went missing. Why were you tardy that day?

Corey Brown: I wasn't feeling well that morning, so I decided to stay home for a while until I felt better.

Detective Adams: Why didn't you feel well?

Corey Brown: I just didn't, I don't know.

Detective Adams: Are you sure you weren't feeling guilty about doing something you shouldn't have?

Corey Brown: No! I just didn't feel good that's all. Look, I didn't have anything to do with this! I've told you over and over! Why don't you believe me?

Detective Adams: There's no reason to get upset Corey, if you really didn't do anything. Corey Brown: I promise you I didn't hurt her! I would never do that!

Detective Adams: Ok Corey. I'll level with you. We examined your locker at school and found lined paper that matches the paper a note found at the crime scene was written on. We have physical evidence linking you to the crime scene Corey. We know you're our guy, we just need you to tell us what happened. And this is how it's going to work; either you tell us what happened and let us help you or you continue to lie and make excuses and I tell the judge you wouldn't cooperate with us. Which do you want Corey?

Detective Davis: Here is what we think happened, Corey. We think you liked Jane a lot more than you are telling us and maybe you even wanted to date her. We think you saw her go into the woods that evening and you followed her to ask her out. And when she said no you kept persisting, but her answer didn't change and that's when you got mad. Maybe you grabbed her when she tried to get away and put your hand over her mouth, so she wouldn't scream. But maybe you grabbed her a little too hard and choked her. Maybe it was all an accident Corey. Detective Adams: We don't think you did this on purpose Corey. We know you are a good kid. We think you just made a mistake, but you have to own up to that mistake now. It's time for you to tell the truth.

Wednesday September 12th, 2010 12:00pm

Detective Adams: The fact of the matter is, Corey, all the evidence points to you being the guy who did this. It's only a matter of time before we get the DNA evidence that will confirm what we already know.

Corey Brown: I just don't understand why this is happening to me. I can't do this anymore, I just want this to be over!

Detective Davis: There is only one way to leave this all behind you, Corey. Just tell us what you did. We all know what you did, Corey, you just have to say it.

Corey: Okay.

Detective Adams: So let's get this straight, you had a crush on Jane and followed her into the woods that evening to ask her out. She refused, and you got angry and killed her You strangled her and hit her head with something. Is that about right Corey?

Corey Brown: Yeah. Sure. Can I go home now?

Detective Davis: Tell us how it happened and this will be over.

Corey Brown: I followed Jane into the woods. I grabbed her and put my hand over her mouth. I must have held it there too long because she stopped breathing.

Detective Adams: And then what happened? What happened to her head?

Corey Brown: I hit it.

Detective Davis: What'd you hit it with?

Corey Brown: A rock.

Detective Adams: So you hit her with a rock.

Corey Brown: Yeah.

Detective Davis: Why did you do it, Corey?

Corey Brown: I don't know

Detective Davis: Come on Corey, you need to tell us the truth here.

Corey Brown: I was mad because she wouldn't go out with me, I guess.

Detective Adams: Okay, Corey, we are going to get this statement typed up so that you can sign it for us.

Corey Brown: Okay.

APPENDIX D

POLICE REPORTS

Accurate Report, Highly Coercive

Case Incident Report

Winchester Police Department Date of Report Occurrence Date(s) **Incident Description Complaint Number** 09/02/2010 09/03/2010 Interview of Suspect 09 99999 Officers Responsible for Case Dav of Time Case Type Location of Incident Week Winchester, Illinois Police 10:00 am-4:00 Detective R. Adams 4 Homicide Detective G. Davis Department pm **VICTIMS/ PERSONS** Name (Last. First) DOB Person Status Aqe Address 12 Anywhere St. Winchester, Victim Smith, Jane 06/13/1994 16 IL Name (Last, First) DOB Address Person Status Aae 343 Somewhere Rd. Brown, Corey 02/27/1994 16 Suspect Winchester, IL

Narrative

Interrogation of Suspect

Suspect, identified as Corev Brown, arrived at the Winchester Police Department Headouarters at approximately 09:45am on Wednesday September 10, 2010 for questioning. Questioning began at approximately 10:00 am in an interrogation room in the police department. Prior to questioning, Brown was made aware of his legal rights and asked if he voluntarily agreed to speak with us. Brown voluntarily agreed to engage in a conversation with us and interrogation began. In regard to his relation to the victim, Brown stated he and the victim were acquaintances and knew each other through school. Brown was then asked about his behavior at the victims funeral and he stated that he was emotional because "she did not deserve to die like that" and that he found the whole situation to be disturbing. We asked what he meant by that statement and he began to attempt to retract his statement and divert the conversation. We told Brown we believed he was concealing information and reminded him of the importance of telling us everything he knew. We then attempted to ask Brown to tell us where he had been the day of the victim's disappearance. Brown stated he left school and went home where he played video games with his cousin through the evening. Brown did not provide any details pertaining to his alibi which we took as a sign of deceit. At this point we encouraged Brown to try to remember details of that evening so that we could obtain a better understanding of his alibi. Brown became clearly agitated and defensive and we attempted to calm him down by telling him as long as he was honest the situation would work itself out. We also began to encourage Brown to be honest and reminded him of the importance of being truthful in these situations and reminded him that we were there to help him not hurt him. Brown continued to display deceitful behavior and we began to present Brown with the evidence we had against him. We then presented Brown with physical evidence found that directly linked him to the crime scene as well as the fact he was tardy to school the day after the victims murder. Brown, once again, became extremely defensive. We again attempted to calm Brown down and encouraged him once again to be honest with us and told him that if continued to lie to us that he would only be making things harder on himself. After presenting Brown with scenario we constructed based on evidence from the case. Brown confessed to following the victim into a wooded area and attempting to ask her on a date. Brown also confessed that when the victim refused he became angry and grabbed her

resulting in her strangulation. All confessions were voluntary and given while Brown was in a sound state of mind. Interrogation concluded at approximately 3:20pm.

Accurate Report, Slightly Coercive

Case Incident Report

Winchester Police Department

| Occur | rrence Date(s) | | Date of Report | | In | cident Description | Ca | omplaint Number |
|----------------|----------------------|-------|--------------------------------------|-----|------|-------------------------------------|----------|--------------------------------------|
| 09 | /02/2010 | | 09/03/2010 | | Inte | rview of Suspect | | 09_99999 |
| Day of Week | Time | Offic | cers Responsible for Case | | | Case Type | Lo | cation of Incident |
| 4 | 10:00 am-12:00 pm | | tective R. Adams tective G. Davis | | | Homicide | | ester, Illinois Police Department |
| VICTIMS/ | PERSONS | | | | | | | |
| Name (Last | , First) | | DOB | Age | | Address | | Person Status |
| Smith, J | ane | | 06/13/1994 | 16 | | 12 Anywhere St. Wind IL | chester, | Victim |
| Name (Last | , First) | | DOB | Age | | Address | | Person Status |
| Brown, I | Corey | | 02/27/1994 | 16 | | 343 Somewhere Rd. Winchester, IL | | Suspect |

Narrative

Interrogation of Suspect

Suspect, identified as Corey Brown, arrived at the Winchester Police Department Headquarters at approximately 09:45am on Wednesday September 10, 2010 for questioning. Questioning began at approximately 10:00 am in an interrogation room in the police department. Prior to questioning, Brown was made aware of his legal rights and asked if he voluntarily agreed to speak with us. Brown voluntarily agreed to engage in a conversation with us and interrogation began. In regard to his relation to the victim. Brown stated he and the victim were acquaintances and knew each other through school. Brown was then asked about his behavior at the victims funeral and he stated that he was emotional because he found the whole situation to be sad. We told Brown we believed he was concealing information and reminded him of the importance of telling us everything he knew. We then attempted to ask Brown to tell us where he had been the day of the victim's disappearance. Brown stated he left school and went home where he played video games with his cousin through the evening. At this point we encouraged Brown to try to remember details of that evening so that we could obtain a better understanding of his alibi. Brown continued to display deceitful behavior and we began to present Brown with the evidence we had against him. We then presented Brown with physical evidence found that directly linked him to the crime scene as well as the fact he was tardy to school the day after the victims murder. Brown, once again, became extremely defensive. We again attempted to calm Brown down and encouraged him once again to be honest with us. After presenting Brown with scenario we constructed based on evidence from the case, Brown confessed to following the victim into a wooded area and attempting to ask her on a date. Brown also confessed that when the victim refused he became angry and grabbed her resulting in her strangulation. All confessions were voluntary and given while Brown was in a sound state of mind. Interrogation concluded at approximately 12:05pm.

Inaccurate Report, Highly Coercive

Case Incident Report

Winchester Police Department

| Occur | rrence Date(s) | | Date of Report | | In | cident Description | Ca | omplaint Number |
|----------------|---------------------|-------|------------------------------|-----|-------------------|-------------------------------------|----------|--------------------------------------|
| 09 | /02/2010 | | 09/03/2010 | | Inte | rview of Suspect | 09_99999 | |
| Day of Week | Time | Offic | cers Responsible for Case | | Case Type | | Lo | cation of Incident |
| 4 | 10:00 am-4:00 pm | | ive R. Adams ive G. Davis | | Winch Homicide | | | ester, Illinois Police Department |
| VICTIMS/ | ' PERSONS | | | | | | • | |
| Name (Last | , First) | | DOB | Age | | Address | | Person Status |
| Smith, J | ane | | 06/13/1994 | 16 | | 12 Anywhere St. Win IL | chester, | Victim |
| Name (Last | , First) | | DOB | Age | | Address | | Person Status |
| Brown, I | Corey | | 02/27/1994 | 16 | | 343 Somewhere Rd. Winchester, IL | | Suspect |

Narrative

Interview of Suspect

Suspect, identified as Corev Brown, arrived at the Winchester Police Department Headouarters at approximately 09:45am on Wednesday September 10, 2010 for questioning. Questioning began at approximately 10:00 am in an interview room in the police department. Prior to questioning. Brown was made aware of his legal rights and asked if he voluntarily acreed to speak with us. Brown voluntarily acreed to encace in a conversation with us and questioning began. In regard to his relation to the victim. Brown stated he and the victim were good friends and knew each other through school. Brown was then asked about his behavior at the victims funeral and he stated that he was emotional because "she did not deserve to die like that". We asked what he meant by that statement and he began to attempt to retract his statement and divert the conversation. We then attempted to ask Brown to tell us where he had been the day of the victim's disappearance. Brown stated he left school and went home where he played video games with his cousin through the evening. Brown did not offer details in order to back up his alibi. At this point we encouraged Brown to try to remember details of that evening so that we could obtain a better understanding of his alibi. At this point, Brown became clearly agitated and defensive and we attempted to calm him down. We also began to encourage Brown to be honest and reminded him of the importance of being truthful in these situations. Brown continued to display deceitful behavior. We then presented Brown with physical evidence found that directly linked him to the crime scene. Brown, once again, became extremely defensive. We again attempted to calm Brown down and encouraged him once again to be honest with us. At approximately 3:10 pm Brown confessed to following the victim into a wooded area and attempting to ask her on a date. Brown also confessed that when the victim refused he became anary and grabbed her resulting in her strangulation. All confessions were voluntary and given while Brown was in a sound state of mind. Questioning concluded at approximately 3:20pm.

Inaccurate Report, Slightly Coercive

Case Incident Report

| | rrence Date(s) | | Date of Report | | Inc | ident Description | Ca | omplaint Number |
|----------------|----------------------|------------------------|------------------------------------|-----|------------------|-------------------------------------|--------------------|--------------------------------------|
| 09 | /02/2010 | | | | rview of Suspect | | 09_99999 | |
| Day of Week | Time | Officers | ers Responsible for Case Case Type | | | Lo | cation of Incident | |
| 4 | 10:00 am-12:00 pm | Detective Detective | | | | | | ester, Illinois Police Department |
| VICTIMS/ | ' Persons | | | | | | | |
| Name (Last | , First) | DOE | | Age | | Address | | Person Status |
| Smith, J | ane | 06 | /13/1994 | 16 | | 2 Anywhere St. Win L | chester, | Victim |
| Name (Last | , First) | DOE | ł | Age | | Address | | Person Status |
| Brown, I | Corey | 02 | /27/1994 | 16 | | 343 Somewhere Rd. Winchester, IL | | Suspect |

Winchester Police Department

Narrative

Interview of Suspect

Suspect, identified as Corey Brown, arrived at the Winchester Police Department Headquarters at approximately 09:45am on Wednesday September 10, 2010 for questioning. Questioning began at approximately 10:00 am in an interview room in the police department. Prior to questioning. Brown was made aware of his legal rights and asked if he voluntarily agreed to speak with us. Brown voluntarily agreed to engage in a conversation with us and guestioning began. In regards to his relation to the victim. Brown stated he and the victim were good friends and knew each other through school. Brown was then asked about his behavior at the victims funeral and he stated that he was emotional because it was a sad situation. We then attempted to ask Brown to tell us where he had been the day of the victim's disappearance. Brown stated he left school and went home where he played video games with his cousin through the evening. Brown did not offer details in order to back up his alibi. We encouraged Brown to try to remember details of that evening so that we could obtain a better understanding of his alibi. At this point, Brown became clearly agitated and defensive and we attempted to calm him down. We also began to encourage Brown to be honest and reminded him of the importance of being truthful in these situations. Brown continued to display deceitful behavior. We then presented Brown with physical evidence found that directly linked him to the crime scene. Brown, once again, became extremely defensive. We again attempted to calm Brown down and encouraged him once again to be honest with us. At approximately 12:00 pm Brown confessed to following the victim into a wooded area and attempting to ask her on a date. Brown also confessed that when the victim refused he became angry and grabbed her, resulting in her strangulation. All confessions were voluntary and given while Brown was in a sound state of mind. Questioning concluded at approximately 12:05pm.

APPENDIX E

PERCEPTIONS QUESTIONNAIRES

*Please choose only one choice for each question and attempt to answer every question to the best of your ability

Attention Checks:

1. How old was the victim in this case?

11 12 13 14 15 16 17

- 2. What key piece of evidence was found at the crime scene in this case?
 - a. a cellphone
 - b. a note on lined paper
 - c. a man's baseball cap
- 3. How was the victim in this case killed?
 - a. Shot
 - b. Stabbed
 - c. Strangled
- 4. How did the defendant know the victim in this case?
 - a. Family member
 - b. Friend from school
 - c. Neighbor
- 5. What evidence did the detectives present against Corey? (Please check all that apply)
 - a. Fingerprint evidence
 - b. Prior history of violent behavior
 - c. Physical evidence found at the crime scene
 - d. Identification by an eyewitness
 - e. Prior history of aggressive behavior toward females
 - f. Friends stating Corey confessed to the crime
 - g. Being tardy to school the day after Jane's disappearance
- 6. What did Corey say he was doing the afternoon Jane went missing?
 - a. Playing basketball
 - b. Doing homework
 - c. Playing video games
 - d. Walking in the park near his house

Open-ended Questions:

- 1. What did you think of the interrogation/ interview?
- 2. What did you think of Corey's confession?

Verdict Judgement

1. What is your verdict in this case? Based on the information provided, would you find the suspect Guilty or Not Guilty of killing Jane Smith?

| | Guilty | | | Not Guilty | | | | |
|----|--------------------------------------|---------------|------------|-------------------------------|-----------|-------------|-------------------|---------|
| | Why? | | | | | | | |
| 2 | Diago rota | vour confid | longo in v | our verdict de | ocision: | | | |
| | ery Unconfi | - | ience in y | Not Sure | 20181011. | Ve | ery Confident | |
| • | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | | 7 | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| 3. | Regardless | s of your leg | al verdict | given above, | do you t | hink that | the suspect murde | red the |
| | victim? | | | | | | | |
| | | Yes | | | No | | | |
| | victim? | | that helpe | ed you make | | dict decisi | on? | |
| | victim? Please list Do you thi | three things | _ | ed you make be tried as an | your vere | | | |
| 4. | victim? Please list | three things | _ | - | your vere | | | |
| | victim? | | that helpe | ed you make | | dict decisi | on? | |

| Very Unli | ikely | | Neutral | | | Very Likely |
|-----------|-------|---|---------|---|---|-------------|
| 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 |

- 7. If you said it was possible the confession given was false please list 3 possible reasons:
 - 1.
 2.
 3.

8. Please rate your view of whether the confession true or false

| Definitely True | | | Neutral | | | Definitely F | False |
|-----------------|---|---|---------|---|---|--------------|-------|
| 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | |

Interrogation Questions

| 1. How fa | air do you | think the | police quest | ioning o | f the defer | ndant was overall? |
|-------------|------------|-----------|--------------|----------|-------------|--------------------|
| Very Unfair | | | Neutral | | | Very Fair |
| 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 |

2. How manipulative do you think the detectives were during the questioning?

| Very Manipulative | | | Neutral | | | Not Manipulative |
|-------------------|---|---|---------|---|---|------------------|
| 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 |

3. How coercive do you think the questioning was overall?

| Very Coercive | | Neutral | | | Not Coercive | | |
|---------------|---|---------|---|---|--------------|---|--|
| 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | |

| 4. How r | nuch pres | sure do you | u think the o | detectives | s put on th | ne suspect? |
|-----------|-----------|-------------|---------------|------------|-------------|-------------|
| A Great D | Deal | | Neutral | | | None |
| 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 |

| ppropriate | | Neutral | | | Very Inappropriate | |
|--------------------------------------|--|---|--|--|---|--|
| 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | |
| w much sym | pathy do ye | ou think the | detectiv | es display | ed for the suspect? | |
| t Deal | | Neutral | | None | | |
| 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | |
| w aggressive | do you thi | nk the detec | ctives we | re during | the questioning? | |
| Very Aggressive Neutral 1 2 3 4 5 | | | | Not Aggressive | | |
| 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | |
| w profession | al were the | detectives? | | | | |
| ikeable | | Neutral | | | Not Likeable | |
| 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | |
| | e were the | questioning | techniqu | ies used b | y the detectives given the nature | |
| ppropriate | | Neutral | | | Very Inappropriate | |
| 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | |
| n Questions | | | | | | |
| what extent | do you thin | k the confes | ssion giv | en was vo | luntary? | |
| all | | Neutral | | | Completely | |
| 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | |
| | | | | | | |
| | w much sym at Deal 2 w aggressive 2 w profession likeable 2 w appropriat the crime? Appropriate 2 n Questions what extent all | $2 \qquad 3$ w much sympathy do you at Deal $2 \qquad 3$ w aggressive do you this Aggressive $2 \qquad 3$ w professional were the Likeable $2 \qquad 3$ w appropriate were the factor of the crime? Appropriate $2 \qquad 3$ what extent do you thin all | 234234w much sympathy do you think the at DealNeutral234234w aggressive do you think the detect AggressiveNeutral234w professional were the detectives?Neutral234w appropriate were the questioning the crime?Neutral234an QuestionsNeutralallNeutral | 2 3 4 5 w much sympathy do you think the detective at Deal Neutral 2 2 3 4 5 w aggressive do you think the detectives we aggressive Neutral 2 2 3 4 5 w aggressive do you think the detectives we aggressive Neutral 2 2 3 4 5 w professional were the detectives? Neutral 2 2 3 4 5 w appropriate were the questioning technique the crime? Neutral 2 2 3 4 5 m Questions Neutral 2 3 4 5 all Neutral Neutral 3 4 5 | 2 3 4 5 6 w much sympathy do you think the detectives display at Deal 2 3 4 5 6 w aggressive do you think the detectives were during AggressiveNeutral 2 3 4 5 6 w aggressive do you think the detectives were during Aggressive 2 3 4 5 6 w professional were the detectives?LikeableNeutral 2 3 4 5 6 w appropriate were the questioning techniques used b the crime?Neutral 2 3 4 5 6 m Questionswhat extent do you think the confession given was vol allNeutral | |

2. To what extent do you think the confession given was believable?

| Not at all | Neutral | Completely |
|------------|---------|------------|
|------------|---------|------------|

| | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | |
|---|-------------------------------------|---|---|--|----------------|-------------------|---|-------|
| 3. 1 | Гo wh | at extent o | lo you thi | nk the confes | ssion giv | en was ac | curate? | |
| Not | at all | | | Neutral | | | Completely | |
| 1 | _ | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | |
| spect | 's Un | derstandi | ng of Rig | hts | | | | |
| 1. H | How 1 | ikely is it | that the de | efendant und | erstood t | he questio | ons being asked? | |
| Not | at all | | | Neutral | | | Very Likely | |
| 1 | - | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | |
| | | ikely do y ssing? | ou think i | t is that the d | efendan | t understo | od he might lose his freedon | n by |
| Very | v Unli | kely | | Neutral | | | Very Likely | |
| 1 | - | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | |
| | | likely do y gning a sta | | it is that the o | lefendan | t understo | ood he had a choice in confe | ssing |
| Very | v Unli | kelv | | Neutral | | | T 7 T 1 1 | |
| | | 5 | | 1.00000 | | | Very Likely | |
| 1 | | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | Very Likely 7 | |
| 4. H | How 1 | 2 | that the de | 4 efendant und | | | | |
| 4. H p | How 1 | 2 ikely is it at during th | that the de | 4 efendant und | | | 7 | |
| 4. H p | How l presen 7 Unli | 2 ikely is it at during th | that the de | 4 efendant und ning? | | | 7 9 have a lawyer or parents | |
| 4. F F Very 1 5. F | How 1 present 7 Unli How 1 | 2 ikely is it it during th kely 2 | that the dene questio 3 at the defe | 4 efendant undening? Neutral 4 endant unders | erstood l 5 | nis right to 6 | 7 9 have a lawyer or parents Very Likely | |
| 4. F F Very 1 5. F v | How 1 present 7 Unli How 1 | 2 ikely is it it during th kely 2 ikely is th be provid | that the dene questio 3 at the defe | 4 efendant undening? Neutral 4 endant unders | erstood l 5 | nis right to 6 | 7 9 have a lawyer or parents Very Likely 7 | |

| Very Unlik | xely | | Neutral | | | Very Likely | |
|---|---------------------------------------|---|---|---|----------------------------------|---|--------|
| 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | |
| | • | hat the def ainst him? | | erstood th | at any sta | tement or confession he | gave |
| Very Unlik | kely | | Neutral | | | Very Likely | |
| 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | |
| 3. How lik | ely is it t | hat the def | endant knev | w he coul | d stop the | interview anytime he wa | anted? |
| Very Unlik | kely | | Neutral | | | Very Likely | |
| 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | |
| Not at all | | - | Neutral | | | vas believable? Completely | |
| 1 | 2 at extent c | 3 lo you thin | Neutral 4 | 5 | 6 | Completely 7 | |
| 1 2. To wha | | | Neutral 4 | 5 | 6 | Completely | |
| 1 2. To wha | | | Neutral 4 nk the police | 5 | 6 | Completely 7 vas accurate? | |
| 1 2. To wha Not at all 1 3. To wha | at extent o 2 at extent o | lo you thin 3 | Neutral 4 nk the police Neutral 4 nk the police | 5 e report p 5 | 6 rovided v 6 | Completely 7 vas accurate? Completely | actual |
| 1 2. To wha Not at all 1 3. To wha questic | at extent o 2 at extent o | lo you thin 3 lo you thin | Neutral 4 nk the police Neutral 4 nk the police | 5 e report p 5 | 6 rovided v 6 | Completely 7 vas accurate? Completely 7 | actual |
| To what all 1 To what | at extent o 2 at extent o | lo you thin 3 lo you thin | Neutral 4 nk the police Neutral 4 nk the police | 5 e report p 5 | 6 rovided v 6 | Completely 7 vas accurate? Completely 7 vas representative of the s | actual |
| 1 2. To wha Not at all 1 3. To wha questic Not at all 1 | 2 2 at extent coning of th 2 | do you thin 3 do you thin he suspect | Neutral 4 nk the police Neutral 4 nk the police ? Neutral 4 | 5 e report p 5 e report p 5 | 6 rovided v 6 rovided v | Completely 7 vas accurate? Completely 7 vas representative of the s Completely | actual |
| 1 2. To what all 1 3. To what all question Not at all 1 | 2 2 at extent coning of th 2 | do you thin 3 do you thin he suspect | Neutral 4 nk the police Neutral 4 nk the police ? Neutral 4 | 5 e report p 5 e report p 5 | 6 rovided v 6 rovided v | Completely 7 vas accurate? Completely 7 vas representative of the s Completely 7 | actual |

Affective Reactions

1. "I feel sorry for the suspect"

| | | | 1 | | | | | | |
|---|---------------------|-------------|--------------|-------------|----|---|-------------------------|--|--|
| Completely Disagree | | | | Neutral | | | Completely Agree | | |
| | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| 2. "The detectives need to do whatever possible in order to obtain a confession | | | | | | | to obtain a confession" | | |
| Co | Completely Disagree | | | Neutral | | | Completely Agree | | |
| | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| 2 | 44T 1 | · | | | | | | | |
| 3. | "I have p | ity for the | suspect | | | | | | |
| Completely Disagree | | | | Neutral | | | Completely Agree | | |
| | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| 4. | "I have p | ity for the | victim and | d her famil | у" | | | | |
| Completely Disagree | | | | Neutral | | | Completely Agree | | |
| | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| ~ | ((1.1 | .1 | .1 | | | | | | |
| 5. | "I have s | ympathy f | or the susp | pect | | | | | |
| Completely Disagree | | | | Neutral | | | Completely Agree | | |
| | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| 6 | "I have sy | ymnathy fo | or the polic | ·e" | | | | | |
| | ompletely I | | n ine pone | Neutral | | | Completely Agree | | |
| | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | | |
| | 1 | 2 | 5 | 4 | 5 | 0 | 1 | | |

Police Perceptions Scale

*Please rate the extent to which you agree/ disagree with the following statements

1. Police do their best to be fair to everyone

| Completely Disagree | | | Neutral | | Completely Agree | |
|--|---|----------|-------------------------|---|-------------------------|--|
| 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 7 | |
| | icers treat peop tely Disagree 2 | | respect Neutral 4 | 5 | Completely Agree 6 7 | |
| 3. People sh | ould trust the p | olice to | o help | | | |
| Complet | tely Disagree | | Neutral | | Completely Agree | |
| 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 7 | |
| | 4. I believe what police officers tell me Completely Disagree Neutral Completely Agree | | | | | |
| 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | | |
| 5. Police officers desire justice Completely Disagree Neutral Completely Agree 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 | | | | | | |
| 1 | 2 | 5 | - | 5 | 0 / | |
| 6. The police usually act in ways consistent with my ideas about what is right and wrong Completely Disagree Neutral Completely Agree | | | | | | |
| 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 7 | |
| Demographics What is your age? | | | | | | |
| •• IIa | . 15 your ago: _ | | | | | |

Gender: _____ Female _____ Male _____ Other _____ Prefer not to answer

Do you identify as Hispanic or Latino- A person of Cuban, Mexican, Puerto Rican, South or Central American, or other Spanish culture or origin regardless of race. Please select from the answers below.

| Hispanic Latino | |
|---------------------|--|
| Not Hispanic Latino | |
| Other: | |

Of the racial identities listed below, which best represents you?

- White (Not Hispanic Latino)- A person having origins of the original people of Europe, the Middle East, or North Africa. Political Orientation
- _____ Black or African American (Not Hispanic Latino)- A person having origins in any of the black racial groups of Africa.

| | American Indian or Alaska Native (not Hispanic Latino)- A person having origins in any of the original peoples of North and South America (including Central America), and who maintain tribal affiliation or community attachment. |
|------------|---|
| | Asian (Not Hispanic Latino)- A person having origins in any of the original peoples of the Far East, Southeast Asia, or Indian subcontinent, including Cambodia, China, India, Japan, Korea, Malaysia, Pakistan, the Philippine Islands, and Vietnam. |
| | Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander (Not Hispanic Latino)- A person having origins in any of the peoples of Hawaii, Guam, Samoa, or other Pacific Islands. |
| | Two or more races (Not Hispanic Latino)- All person who identify with more than one of the above five races. |
| | Other: |
| Which best | describes your political orientation? |

____ Conservative ____ Moderate ____ Liberal

What is the highest degree or level of school you have completed? If currently enrolled, highest degree received.

 No high school

 Some High school, no diploma

 High school graduate, diploma or equivalent (GED)

 Some college credit, no degree

 Trade/ technical/ vocational training

 Associate's degree

 Bachelor's degree

 Master's degree

 Professional degree

_____ Doctoral degree

Have you or anyone close to you (friend or family) ever been suspected of committing a crime?

Yes No

Have you or anyone close to you ever been formally questioned by the police?

In general, how much sympathy do you feel for juveniles who commit crimes?

A great deal A lot A moderate amount A little None at all

APPENDIX F

QUALITATIVE CODING SCHEME

Qualitative Coding Scheme

- 1= Inaccurate confession
- 2= Confession= guilty
- 3= Lack of/ unsubstantial evidence
- 4= Evidence indicates guilty
- 5+= Personality indicates guilty
- 5-= Personality indicates not guilty
- 6= Innocent behavior
- 7= Guilty behavior
- 8= Coercive interrogation/ poor procedure
- 9= lack of understanding of right/ consequences
- 10= Confession due to fatigue/ reward sensitivity
- 11= Diminished capacity
- 12+= Age (old enough)
- 12-= Age (too young)
- 13= No lawyer/ parent present
- 14= Other
- 15= Suspect is competent
- 16= The confession was voluntary
- 17+= Alibi is flimsy/ indicates guilty
- 17-= Alibi strong/ indicates not guilty

VITA

Morgan Nicole Andrews was born in Rome, GA, to the parents of Glenn and Regina Andrews. She is the first of two children, with a younger brother, Ryan. She attended West End Elementary and continued to Rome High School in Rome, Georgia. After graduation, Morgan attended Berry College where she studied Psychology. During her junior year, she became interested in Psychology and the Law. Morgan worked on a variety of research and grant projects as an undergraduate. She completed the Bachelor of Science degree in May 2017 in Psychology. After completing her Bachelors, Morgan accepted a graduate research assistantship at the University of Tennessee at Chattanooga in the Research Psychology Program. During her graduate career, Morgan also worked as a trial consultant in which she consulted on several criminal and civil cases. Morgan graduated with a Master of Science degree in Psychology in May 2019.